WARREN

Library Commission Members
Natalie Piernak, Chairman
Emma Howard, Vice-Chairman
, Secretary
Annette Majka, Treasurer
, Trustee
William Rudd, Trustee
Lorie Barnwell, City Treasurer Trustee

NOTICE

WARREN PUBLIC LIBRARY COMMISSION
REGULAR MEETING
Warren Civic Center Library
Mark Twain Room
1 City Square, Suite 100
Warren, M| 48093

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT there will be a regular, in-person meeting of the Warren
Public Library Commission on Thursday, February 19, 2026 at 6:00 p.m.

CONTACT/ACCOMMODATIONS INFORMATION:
* If you have any questions, concerns, or require disability-related accommodations for the meeting,

please contact Caitlin Murphy at cmurphy@cityofwarren.org or 586 574-4671— to request assistance.



WARREN PUBLIC LIBRARY COMMISSION
REGULAR MEETING
WARREN CIVIC CENTER LIBRARY- MARK TWAIN ROOM
1 CITY SQUARE, SUITE 100
WARREN, MI 48093
February 19, 2026
6:00 p.m.

Call to Order

Roll Call

Approval of Agenda

Approval of Minutes
- Regular Meeting January 15, 2026

Financial Reports
a. Monthly Line-ltem Budget Report
b. Suburban Library Allocation Account
c. Branch Income Report

Director’s Report
a. Statistics/Output Measures
e Unigue Management report

b. Branch Updates

e Busch-
o Students still following procedures set in place the previous
year
o Additional shelving in teen room set to be installed this month.
e Burnette -

o Spartan é Securities still providing service
o New fish for aquarium set to arrive by end of month
e Miller -
o Branch closed at Tpm on January 20, 2026 due to water leak
in north enfrance ceiling.
o Purchasing/processing items for the Library of Things
collection.
e Civic -
o Upper window pane in children room in process of being
replaced

Page10f3



c. Current Projects
e The construction of the new library is progressing

d. Services
e Received check from SLC for ProPay credit transactions in the
month of December 2025 totaling $559.04.

e. Staffing

e New Hires/Departures

o O. Urban, Library Director, last day of work was January 30,

2026, with a retirement date of March 12, 2026
M. McCarville, Library Director, stated January 26, 2026
L. McCabe, Office Assistant left service, January 26, 2026.
4 candidates interviewed to fill Office Assistant vacancy
G. Haines, Office Assistant, to start at Civic Center on
February 23, 2026
o Staff Transfers -

o M. Meservy, Library Technician was transferred from Busch

Branch to Civic Center branch on February 2, 2026

e Short-term leave -

o A. Libby, Library Technician leave started January 21, 2026

0O O O O

f. Marketing/Outreach

e eNewsletter update: All programs listed in the eNewsletter for
children, teens, and adults.

e Outreach program focused on Warren residents; home delivery
of materials to persons with disabilities and homebound -
suspended temporarily.

e Spring quarterly printing of Warren Today, Activity Guide soon to
be mailed out to Warren residents.

e Two staff members set to attend MLA Spring Institute annual
conference held in Grand Rapids, Ml in March.

g. Discussion items:
e Naming of the new branch
e Decrease the charge of lost library cards from $2 to $1
e Noft charging for scanning services

Audience Participation

Members of the audience who would like to address the Library Commission this
evening may do so under the audience portion. Patrons have 3 (three) minutes
to speak.

Page 2 of 3



Action ltems:
o Naming of the new branch
o Charge $1 for lost patron library cards
o No charging for scanning services

Friends of the Warren Public Library
S.L.C. Report
Commissioner's Comments

Next Meeting Date — March 19, 2026

Adjournment

Page 3 of 3



WARREN PUBLIC LIBRARY COMMISSION
REGULAR MEETING
WARREN CIVIC CENTER LIBRARY — MARK TWAIN ROOM
1 CITY SQUARE SUITE 100
WARREN, M| 48093
January 15, 2026
6:00pm

Call to Order: Meeting was called to order at 6:02 p.m. by Natalie Piernak.

Roll Call:

Commissioners Present: Annette Majka, Natalie Piernak, Emma Howard, Lorie Barnwell,
and William Rudd.

Also Attending: C. Murphy, City of Warren Attorney, O. Urban, Director of Warren Public
Libraries, H. Newnan, Warren City Council.

Approval of Agenda:

a. Piernakintroduced an amendment to Action Items. Majka moved to amend the
agenda, Barnwell supported. The motion carried. Howard motioned to approve
the agenda, supported by Majka. The motion carried.

Approval of Minutes:
a. Regular Meeting November 20, 2025
i. Barnwell motioned to approve the 11/20/25 minutes, supported by Rudd.
The motion carried.
b. Special Meeting November 21, 2025
i. Howard motioned to approve the 11/21/25 minutes, supported by Majka.
The motion carried.
c. Special Meeting December 1, 2025
i. Majka motioned to approve the 12/1/25 minutes, supported by Howard.
The motion carried.
d. Special Meeting December 10, 2025
i. Howard motioned to approve the 12/10/25 minutes, supported by Majka.
The motion carried.
Financial Reports: O. Urban reported on the financial state of the Warren Public Library
Branches. There was a miscalculation under the clothing allowance item line that will be
corrected.
Director’s Report:



10.

11.

12.

a. Unique Management: Continuing to collect money for lost and missing items for
the library system.

b. Branch Updates: Busch still waiting for quote on additional shelving to be added
by the study room. Burnette is to receive new species of fish in the fish tank.
Security services continue to help improve atmosphere. Civic had a successful
display in the atrium; over 70 people in attendance.

c. Current Projects: DSLRT compiled every year. Library budget will be submitted
1/16/26. Casper Corp. will be adding the teen room shelving and will give a
guote for the additional shelving at Busch.

Services:
Staffing: New branch librarian added to staff.

f. Marketing/Outreach: Newsletters overseen by Sharon. Warren Today markets
the available children’s/teens’ programming. No available staffing for
homebound delivery outreach programs currently.

g. Discussion items:

i. Discussed the naming of the new library branch and resuming the Sunday
hours at Civic.
Audience Participation: Library branch manager thanked the commission for approving
year-round security services for the Burnette branch. A patron expressed concern on the
expenditures of the library and some comments made by the director during the
meeting.
Action Items:

a. Howard motioned to approve the proposed amendment to the Warren Library
Budget for the funds needed to build the new library branch. Majka supported.
The motion carried.

b. Barnwell motioned to resume Sunday hours at Warren Public Library Civic Center
Branch beginning 1/25/26 from 1pm-5pm. Rudd supported. The motion carried.

Friends of the Warren Public Library: Majka reported that the bookstore is open this
upcoming Saturday.

S. L. C. Report: Ready to Read Grant was received. New children’s books to be
distributed to the library branches. Reported on the status of hiring new S. L. C. Director.
Conducting interviews. A portion of the rural library grant is going to S. L. C. and will be
distributed to several libraries in the coop.

Commissioner’s Comments: L. Barnwell commented on D. Palmer and her positive
experience with him. Appreciation for the retired board members. Thanks to Oksana
Urban for her time as Director. O. Urban commented on her time in WPL and as Director.
Next Meeting Date — February 19, 2026



13. Adjournment: Rudd motioned to adjourn the meeting, supported by Majka. The motion
carried. Meeting adjourned at 7:31 p.m.



271-9271-70300
271-9271-70600
271-9271-70714
271-9271-70900
271-9271-71000
271-9271-71302
271-9271-71303
271-9271-71500
271-9271-71900
271-9271-71904
271-9271-71905
271-9271-71906
271-9271-72100
271-9271-72101
271-9271-72200
271-9271-72201
271-9271-72401
271-9271-72700
271-9271-72702
271-9271-80100
271-9271-80117
271-9271-80130
271-9271-80200
271-9271-80301
271-9271-82201
271-9271-82202
271-9271-82207
271-9271-85300
271-9271-86100
271-9271-86300
271-9271-86400
271-9271-88011
271-9271-90200
271-9271-91000
271-9271-92000
271-9271-93000
271-9271-95000
271-9271-96470
271-9271-96471
271-9271-97400
271-9271-98000
271-9271-98100
271-9271-98200
271-9271-98500
271-9271-98505

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF BUDGET, EXPENDITURES, AND ENCUMBRANCES

APPOINTED OFFICIAL
PERMANENT EMPLOYEES
PERMANENT PART-TIME EMP
OVERTIME

SHIFT PREMIUM

EDUCATION ALLOWANCE
CLEAN/CLOTHING ALLOWANCE
SOCIAL SECURITY

EMPLOYEE INSURANCES
RETIREE HEALTH INSURANCE
H.S.A. EXPENSE

SUPPL LIFE INSURANCE EXP
LONGEVITY

BONUS/SICK REDEMPTION
RETIREMENT FUND

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION EXP
UNIFORMS

OFFICE SUPPLIES

COPY MACHINE EXPENSE
CONTRACTUAL SERVICES
COOPERATIVE SERVICES
LIBRARY COOP INDIRECT AID
POSTAGE

UNEMPLOYMENT COSTS
DIGITAL VIDEO DISCS

LIBRARY CIRCULATING MAT
PERIODICALS

TELEPHONE & RADIO

MILEAGE

VEHICLE MAINTENANCE
CONFERENCES & WORKSHOPS
MARKETING/PROMOTIONS - PRC
BOOK BINDING

INSURANCE & BONDS

PUBLIC UTILITIES

BUILDING MAINTENANCE
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
TRANS TO FUND 386 BOND PMT
TRANS TO FUND 470 CIV CTR SC
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS
OFFICE EQUIPMENT

VEHICLES

BOOKS

ARPA EXPENDITURES
EMERGENCY CONNECTIVITY GR

TOTAL

CITY OF WARREN-LIBRARY
PERIOD 07/01/25 - 06/30/26

as of 1/31/2026

CURRENT YTD YTD YTD %
BUDGETED BUDGET EXPENDITURE ENCUMBERED UNENCUMBERED REMAINING
151,961.00 151,961.00 85,014.58 0.00 66,946.42 44%
1,573,587.00 1,573,587.00 898,990.63 0.00 674,596.37 43%
300,000.00 300,000.00 139,766.50 0.00 160,233.50 53%
20,000.00 20,000.00 2,026.93 0.00 17,973.07 90%
17,000.00 17,000.00 4,990.90 0.00 12,009.10 71%
25,000.00 25,000.00 25,500.00 0.00 (500.00) -2%
9,200.00 9,200.00 9,600.00 0.00 (400.00) -4%
168,266.00 168,266.00 92,592.33 0.00 75,673.67 45%
443,080.00 443,080.00 206,882.34 0.00 236,197.66 53%
175,768.00 175,768.00 102,529.00 0.00 73,239.00 42%
28,229.00 28,229.00 16,015.26 0.00 12,213.74 43%
2,182.00 2,182.00 1,229.09 0.00 952.91 44%
48,053.00 48,053.00 32,773.70 0.00 15,279.30 32%
45,497.00 45,497.00 29,281.12 0.00 16,215.88 36%
290,226.00 290,226.00 169,302.00 0.00 120,924.00 42%
168,117.00 168,117.00 96,255.50 0.00 71,861.50 43%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0%
90,000.00 90,000.00 18,869.61 36,159.60 34,970.79 39%
20,000.00 20,000.00 6,640.95 9,087.02 4,272.03 21%
406,700.00 417,700.00 118,998.76 51,285.39 247,415.85 59%
250,000.00 250,000.00 143,575.61 0.00 106,424.39 43%
75,000.00 75,000.00 0.00 0.00 75,000.00 100%
4,500.00 4,500.00 19,991.69 165.45 (15,657.14) -348%
1,000.00 1,000.00 854.27 0.00 145.73 15%
21,200.00 21,200.00 6,367.51 0.00 14,832.49 70%
127,000.00 127,000.00 35,043.59 0.00 91,956.41 2%
40,000.00 40,000.00 0.00 0.00 40,000.00 100%
17,700.00 17,700.00 4,330.70 539.04 12,830.26 2%
200.00 200.00 0.00 0.00 200.00 100%
4,000.00 4,000.00 366.53 0.00 3,633.47 91%
15,000.00 15,000.00 3,902.86 0.00 11,097.14 74%
50,000.00 50,000.00 9,565.43 0.00 40,434.57 81%
100.00 100.00 0.00 0.00 100.00 100%
52,600.00 52,600.00 30,683.31 0.00 21,916.69 42%
250,000.00 250,000.00 104,539.13 0.00 145,460.87 58%
57,500.00 57,500.00 11,854.99 5,179.06 40,465.95 70%
293,900.00 293,900.00 171,441.69 0.00 122,458.31 42%
107,112.00 107,112.00 104,496.18 0.00 2,615.82 2%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0%
379,000.00 521,000.00 188,642.81 2,315.67 330,041.52 63%
63,500.00 105,500.00 20,388.14 0.00 85,111.86 81%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0%
352,000.00 352,000.00 152,355.49 0.00 199,644.51 57%
0.00 38,205.00 7,066.66 0.00 31,138.34 82%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0%
6,144,178.00 6,377,383.00 3,072,725.79 104,731.23 3,199,925.98 51.82%



SUBURBAN LIBRARY COOPERATIVE
CENTRALIZED PURCHASING EXPENSE FORM

LIBRARY NAME: Warren Public Library

BALANCE AS OF : 1/8/2026 _$1(_)39_5ﬁ9___
VENDOR PURPOSE AMOUNT
Deposit- check for sale of 1 Dell Optiplex 5080 $ (120.00)
Deposit- cash for sale of 2 Dell monitors S {20.00)
Deposit- check for sale of 1 Dell Optiplex 5070 S (120.00)
$
$
$
TOTAL EXPENSE REQUESTS $ (260.00)
NEW BALANCE AS OF :_Jan 12, 2026 $10,665.49

PLEASE ATTACH INVOICES OR SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION OF EXPENSE REQUESTS

DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE
DATE Jan 12, 2026




SUBURBAN LIBRARY COOPERATIVE
CENTRALIZED PURCHASING EXPENSE FORM

LIBRARY NAME: Warren Public Library

BALANCE AS OF : 1/12/2026 _$10,665.49
VENDOR PURPOSE AMOUNT

Deposit- check for sale of 1 Dell Optiplex 5080 $ (120.00)
Deposit- cash for sale of 4 Dell monitors 3 (40.00)
Deposit- check for sale of 3 Dell Optiplex 5080 % (360.00)

$

$

$
TOTAL EXPENSE REQUESTS $ (§20.00)
NEW BALANCE AS OF ;_Jan 22, 2026 $11,185.49

PLEASE ATTACH INVOICES OR SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION OF EXPENSE REQUESTS

DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE W

DATE Jan 22, 2026




SUBURBAN LIBRARY COOPERATIVE
CENTRALIZED PURCHASING EXPENSE FORM

LIBRARY NAME: Warren Public Library
BALANCE AS OF : 1/22/2026

$11,185.49
VENDOR PURPOSE AMOUNT

Deposit- check for sale of 1 Dell Optiplex 5070 $ (120.00)
Deposit- cash for sale of 4 Dell monitors $ (40.00)
Deposit- cash for sale of 3 Dell Optiplex 5070 $ (360.00)

$

$

$
TOTAL EXPENSE REQUESTS $ (520.00)
NEW BALANCE AS OF :_Feb 2, 2026 $11,705.49

PLEASE ATTACH INVOICES OR SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION OF EXPENSE REQUESTS

DIRECTOR’S SIG NATURE%@M@\%M\IQQO

DATE Feb 2, 2026




BRANCH INCOME REPORT
2025/2026 Fiscal Year

INCOME August September October November December TOTAL
Copy Machine 3,127.78 | $ 3,629.68 |$ 3,208.94 [ $ 3,556.04 | $ 3,269.02 $2,938.93 19,730.39
Video/DVD - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - 0.00
Non-resident Fee 164.00 | $ 17539 | $ 13139 | $ 218.06 | $ 194.34 $165.37 1,048.55
Fines 529.37 | $ 1,238.61 | $ 761.19 | $ 71492 | $ 99496 | $ 1,043.24 5,282.29
Lost Materials 32297 | $ 1,21895 | $ 865.25 | $ 631.98 | $ 957.42 | $ 984.95 4,981.52
Miscellaneous 445.30 | $ 582.80 | $ 482.21 | $ 483.65 | $ 541.00 | $ 596.40 3,131.36
Room Rental 10.00 | $ 20.00 | $ - $ - $ 230.00 | $ 10.00 270.00
Referral Fees 100.00 | $ 206.00 | $ 246.17 | $ 17437 | $ 187.66 | $ 104.22 1,018.42
INCOME January February
Copy Machine 2,824.49 22,554.88
Video/DVD - 0.00
Non-resident Fee 170.00 1,218.55
Fines 835.35 6,117.64
Lost Materials 337.15 5,318.67
Miscellaneous 495.50 3,626.86
Room Rental 50.00 320.00
Referral Fees 69.66 1,088.08

TOTAL REVENUE

40,244.68



UNIQUE MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.

2016 - 2025 Fiscal Years

TOTALS 7/1/17-6/30/18  7/1/18-6/30/19  7/1/19-6/30/20 TOTAL
Accounts Submitted 14,969 501 447 297 16,214
Cash Recovered 117,352.86 8,863.82 8,335.96 4,885.58 139,438.22
Materials Recovered 101,148.40 9,072.92 5,955.13 4,805.46 120,981.91
Waived Amount* 32,379.83 3,101.64 2,686.17 1,197.50 39,365.14
Expenditures 73,750.40 3,203.40 3,669.50 3,158.75 83,782.05

TOTALS 7/1/20-6/30/21 7/1/21-6/30/22 7/1/22-6/30/23 TOTAL
Accounts Submitted 16,214 388 207 408 17,217
Cash Recovered 139,438.22 8,204.81 8,451.74 5,100.81 161,195.58
Materials Recovered 120,981.91 8,436.61 3,995.44 9,717.18 143,131.14
Waived Amount* 39,365.14 3,105.39 1,606.91 5,390.80 49,468.24
Expenditures 83,782.05 3,424.60 2,106.90 4,202.40 93,515.95

TOTALS 7/1/23-6/30/24 7/1/24-6/30/25 7/1/25-6/30/26 TOTAL
Accounts Submitted 17,217 458 400 450 18,525
Cash Recovered 161,195.58 6,082.21 4,974.03 3,925.23 176,177.05
Materials Recovered 143,131.14 11,367.17 10,888.18 6,820.18 172,206.67
Waived Amount* 49,468.24 3,428.84 3,230.04 1,934.00 58,061.12
Expenditures 93,515.95 4,717.40 4,233.30 2,752.75 105,219.40

*Waived amount reflects the $5.00 processing fee that is cancelled once the patron returns the materials or pays for

the lost item. Amounts as of 1/1/2026




candgnews.com
SO DECENDER 10,2025

)
TOP SOIL

ABOUT YOU AND <%
YOUR CAR

A *9 ROYA .
L‘e!ebratm‘g,lw.' S

>ihllmlﬂﬂl!

& 29085
nm MACK

Hones Rt Atlordable:
Auto Body Rerair Services

B & B COLLISION

Hackel looks
back on new
charter’s impact

BY DEAN VAGLIA
dvaglia@candgnews.com

MACOMB COUNTY — Though the usual “state of”

address focuses on events and achievements within the past -

year, the 2025 State of Macomb County speech celebrated
15 years of having a county executive.

Delivered Dec. 3 at the Macomb Center for the Per-
forming Arts'by Macomb County Executive Mark Hackel,
the 15th annual speech focused on how the adoption of the
county charter in 2010 allowed Macomb County to trans-
form itself over the following decade and a half.

“We are marking a milestone here in Macomb County,”
Hackel said. “Fifteen years ago, the residents of Macomb
County voted for a new direction. They asked for fairer lead-
ership and greater accountability, (a direction) that would
provide us with the opportunity to act quickly, think long
term and speak with a unified voice. This new structure, our
structure, has allowed us to challenge ourselves, seize op-
portunities and plan for the future. And because of that, I
believe Macomb County is stronger today than ever. We're
stronger because we have built this movement with every-
body.”

These improvements over the past 1 5 years were at-
tributed as much to the county’s partners as they were to
the county itself with the tagline of “Macomb With Every-
body” — a play on the “Vs Everybody” clothing line. The

See ADDRESS on page 18A

_dent whose deades of service to the city is

lyst for Ford Motor Co.

; Richard “Dick” Palmer, who served on a number

You servm’ our city well’
WARREN S RICHARD ‘DICK' PALMER REMEMBERED AS WARM, SELFLESS

BY BRIAN WELLS
bwells@candgnews.com

WARREN — A longtime Warren resi-

being remembered as a humble, steady pres-
ence.

Richard “Dick” Palmer, who served
on a number of Warren’s boards and com-
missions, died on Thanksgiving, Nov.
27. He was 92.

According to his obituary, Pa.lmer
graduated from the University of De-
troit before serving in the U.S. Army.
He spent 32 years working as a tax ana-

~ Palmer, who lived in Warren for
67 years, served 16 years as a PTA officer
and six years on the PTA’s area council. He spent
16 years on the Warren Consolidated Schools
Board of Education, where he chaired two |
successful millage campaigns.
Additionally, according to his obltuary,

See PALMER on page 8A :;»

of Warren's hoards and commissions, died on
Thanksgiving, Nov. 27. He was 92.

Photo provided by Robert Bonkowski




8A

Palmer

from page 1A

he served 10 years on the Warren Library
Commission, three years on the Warren
Cultural Commission, and 30 years on the
board for the Friends of the Warren Library.
He was also on the Warren Symphony Or-
chestra’s board of directors for 19 years.

In addition to many relatives, he is sur-

vived by his wife, Genie Palmer, who referred
to her husband as a “professional volunteer.”

“He was happiest when he was around
his family and people, that’s why he was so
involved in everything in the city and the
schools,” she said. “He was a professional
volunteer, because he just loved to help
wherever he could.” '

He was a loving dad and grandpa, she
said, who loved playing golf and reading
books.

“His favorite vacation was just sitting
and reading,” she said.

Warren Treasurer Lorie Barnwell said
Dick and Genie Palmer were both commit-
ted to serving the city.

“Him and his wife just really have ser-
vant hearts, and they just really have gone
above and beyond for Warren, always,” she
said.

Barnwell said she met Palmer at one of
the first events she ever went to whenushe
was running for office in 2015.

“I just remember he had a great’

sense of humor. He was so funny, had a
great wit about him, extremely friend-
ly,” she said. “And he was just extremely
encouraging of young people grow-
ing and developing in their leadership.”

Barnwell, who served with Palmer on
- the Library Commission, said he never got
caught up in the “political back and forth”
and always said what he meant.

“And he always said it with a litte wit,
a litcle humor. He never took himself or any-
thing too seriously,” she said. “And I mean
that in the best possible way. He just really
tried to lead with honor and with intention
and with humility.”

She added that he was a great example
to her when she was beginning in a leader-
ship position in the city. He was never quick
to anger, and he always tried to find the best
in other people and the best solutions, she
said. :

“He just really wanted to bring people
together to move forward,” Barnwell said.

4 2 CANDGNEWS.COM

Warren City Council Secretary Mindy .
Moore remembered Palmer as being com-
mitted to service, community, faith and fam-
ily, which made Warren a better place, she -
said in a Facebook post.

Moore served with Palmer on the War-
ren Symphony Orchestra’s board of direc-
tors. His love of music, steady leadership and
kind heart were evident in everything he did,
she said.

“He was the type of board member you
could always count on, prepared, thought-
ful, devoted and endlessly supportive of our
mission,” she said. “Dick believed in the
power of music to bring people together, and
he worked tirelessly for nearly two decades to
help ensure the symphony’s future.”

What she admired most about Palmer,
Moore said, was his genuine warmth.

“Dick always had a smile, a word of en-
couragement and a deep sense of purpose,”
she said. “His service extended far beyond
the arts. He gave so much of himself to our
schools, out library system, his church com-
munities and to countless organizations that
make Warren stronger.” 4

Former Warren Mayor Jim Fouts said
Palmer represerited what may be a bygone *
era of people who are concerned about pub-
lic service over self service.

“He was always putting the interest of,
whether it be the school or the city, above his
own,” he said. “He was just a nice, selfless,
self-effacing guy.”

Fouts said Palmer was never concerned
about himself, only about getting things
done.

“He was always about putting the inter-
ests of the school district and the city above
his own. He had a very familiar, winning
smile. He was low-key but very dedlcated to
helping others,” he said.

He said Palmer and his wife were both
focused on public service.

“They were a key part of our commu-
nity, and they helped to make things go the
right way without putting themselves in
front,” Fouts said.

In a tribute posted on his Facebook
page, Fouts said there was hardly a board or
commission on which Palmer wasn't willing
to serve.

~ “Yet to me, he will always be remem-
bered as a nice guy who put you at ease with
his humble winning ways,” he said. “Thanks
Dick, you served our city well.”

Call Staff Writer Brian Wells ar (248)
291-7637.

CHECK OUT NEWS, FEATURES, SPORTS AND MORE
FROM ALL OF OUR C & G NEWSPAPERS



Weekend

from POLITICO MAGAZINE

THE FRIDAY READ

In 1967, a Black Man and a White Woman Bought a
Home. American Politics Would Never Be the Same.

What happened to the Bailey family in the Detroit suburb of Warren became a flashpoint in the national battle over
integration.

[llustrations by Mark Harris for POLITICO; Photos by Brittany Greeson for POLITICO

By ZACK STANTON 12/22/2023 05:00 AM EST
Zack Stanton is deputy editor of Playbook, and a native of Macomb County, Michigan.

— PART | —
The Battle for Buster Drive

WARREN, Michigan — On the night of June 13, 1967, Mary Killeen woke from a fitful sleep to see a tank rumbling down
her street.

A phalanx of a dozen or so police in riot gear marched alongside and they were headed right toward her. Directly across
the street, a seething crowd of 200 to 300 white people were swarming the house of her newest neighbors. It had been
building for days. The crowd trampled the fresh sod. They screamed and shouted at the occupants inside, their faces lit by
car headlights and the flicker of gas lamps on front lawns. They surrounded the home, staring in. Some threw rocks at the
windows. Some pounded on the outer walls, like a shark bumping against the underside of a life raft.

The home belonged to the Baileys. Carado, his wife, Ruby, and young daughter, Pam, had moved in on June 5, a week
before. There were new people moving in all the time to the Wishing Well subdivision — Mary Killeen, with her husband
and two daughters, had only just got there herself. But the Baileys were different from their neighbors in at least one way:
Carado was Black and Ruby was white.

Neighbors didn’t initially know this. Carado worked the night shift at General Motors’ Fisher Body plant, often leaving and
returning home under cover of darkness. No one had seen him. Curious neighbors watered their lawns late into the
evening, a pretense to be outside and possibly catch a glimpse of the mysterious new family. Once they did, rumors had
started spreading fast, shared in hushed tones over backyard fences and front-porch visits.

“They shouldn’t be here.” “‘We’re a good neighborhood and we don’t want Blacks in this neighborhood.” That kind of talk,”
Killeen says of the reaction on Buster Drive. “It just took a few days, and then it really escalated very quickly.”

On their fifth night in the neighborhood, the Baileys’ telephone lines were cut.

On the sixth night, the police did nothing. They just watched as neighbors — 80 to 100 of them — threw smoke bombs and
broke windows at the house that looked exactly like their own. Gov. George Romney threatened to call the Michigan state
police.



On the ninth night, embarrassed into action, members of the Warren police department put on their riot helmets and
marched behind a rumbling tank to rescue the beleaguered family at 26132 Buster Dr.

It was that kind of summer in America. Big forces were feeding the unrest. Bipartisan civil rights legislation was advancing
in Washington, and protests for racial equality — often centering on jobs and housing — were seemingly everywhere.
Violent encounters between police and Black people became flashpoints that quickly overwhelmed the non-violence ethos
of the Civil Rights Movement. In the span of two weeks (from June 2 to June 17), riots broke out in a half-dozen major
American cities (Boston, Tampa, Cincinnati and Atlanta among them), leading to numerous deaths and hundreds of
millions of dollars of damage. The battle that was taking place on Buster Drive in Warren was but a small sideshow to the
images playing on the nightly news and would soon be eclipsed by the devastating violence that would erupt a few miles
away in Detroit in July. But what would transpire over the coming days and months and years on Buster Drive would
actually have profound consequences for race relations in America and shape the national political landscape in ways that
are still being felt today.

A telegenic housing secretary with presidential ambitions would use the Baileys’ plight to launch a bold plan to desgregate
all of America’s suburbs.

Local officials in Warren, stoked by the rage of their white constituents, would stymie his efforts, even though it meant
forfeiting millions of dollars of federal aid.

A Republican president facing reelection would torpedo his secretary’s plan, empowering the white middle-class voters he
considered crucial to his victory.

Those voters, in turn, would make this corner of suburban Detroit the unofficial capital of America’s white middle class,
and shape the strategy of presidential hopefuls of both parties for decades to come.

Ultimately, the whites-only fortress of Warren and surrounding Macomb County would crumble, overwhelmed by the
consequences of self-defeating choices made decades before. Like suburbs across the country, it would become more
diverse — and increasingly Democratic. But it would retain the scars of unhealed racial fault lines first laid down in 1967 —
a de facto segregation that would make Macomb County a prime target for populist conservatives bent on appealing to
white working-class voters. Few suburbs would suffer the same headline-making unrest or the targeted federal scrutiny as
Warren. But its prominent role in the massive demographic and political shifts of the last half century would ensure it
remained an important bellwether heading into the 2024 presidential election when, once again, Macomb County would
find itself a political battleground for the nation’s all-important suburban vote.

But before any of that could happen, the Baileys had to outlast the mob.

‘THEY SUDDENLY HAD NO HOUSES LEFT’

In many respects, Carado Bailey was like most men in the middle of the American century.

He was an Army veteran — “a war hero” in Korea. He had a unionized job and a couple decades of seniority as a skilled
tradesman at GM’s Fisher Body plant. It was a time when blue-collar union work secured a dignified living you could
confidently raise a family and retire on. He had a loving wife and a sweet elementary school-aged daughter whose
education and safety he and Ruby would do anything to ensure.

They’d initially lived in Detroit. But “the neighborhood deteriorated, and we felt the school in our area was not up to the
standards we wanted for Pam,” Ruby told the Macomb Daily in June 1967. Macomb’s new neighborhoods, just north of 8
Mile Road — the street that served as an unofficial boundary between urban Detroit and its inner ring of suburbs — were
alluring and affordable. “New homes just aren’t being built in the city at prices we can afford,” Ruby told JET Magazine in
1968. The suburbs offered clean neighborhoods and space to breathe far from the slowly deteriorating buildings and
chemical-belching industries of the urban core. You could own your own small patch of America. And if you were a
veteran, the FHA would even underwrite your mortgage.

Warren, in particular, was growing exponentially. It was considered America’s fastest-growing suburb, well on its way to
doubling its population to 180,000 by the end of the ’60s. It was blue-collar and working-class, a gridiron of stamping
plants and tool and die shops; of subdivisions where addresses were stenciled in paint onto the curbs; of homes with
finished basements where card games were played at family get-togethers, the air thick with cigarette smoke and accents
that, even a generation removed from naturalization, carried traces of the old country; of Italian and Polish cultural
festivals put on by local Catholic parishes; of Saturdays that sounded of lawn mowers and smelled of grass clippings; of


https://policing.umhistorylabs.lsa.umich.edu/s/detroitunderfire/page/1967
https://policing.umhistorylabs.lsa.umich.edu/s/detroitunderfire/page/1967

good schools where kids sported clothes bought on blue-light special at KMart; of driveways with gleaming cars bought
with a generous friends-and-family discount from Ford or GM or Chrysler.

Carado and Ruby Bailey wanted a piece of that just like tens of thousands of other families.

In fall of 1966, Ruby visited one of Mavant Homes’ model houses in the last phase of the subdivision they were building on
the west edge of town. She was assured that many lots were still available — just come back with your husband, and we
can finalize it all. That night, the nice white lady with the black bouffant and eyes the color of two espresso shots returned
with her husband. “And they suddenly had no houses left,” Marion Muma, who became one of Ruby’s friends back then,
told me. “Ruby figured out, you know, that wasn’t true. And she got angry.”

At the time, Marion and her husband, Carl, were in their early 30s, with three elementary school-aged kids. They lived just
across the line in neighboring Oakland County, but they were active in their church, Warren’s First Methodist. There, Rev.
Phil Townley had built a congregation very much of its era. Musty organ-and-hymnal warbling was shunned in favor of
folksy guitars and more accessible melodies — less John Wesley than Joan Baez. During sermons, Townley paced the
center aisle so he could be closer to his congregants. He told them not to close their eyes and bow their heads as they
prayed, but to look intently at one another — “focusing on life itself and the fact that God is in us.” His eyes ever open,
Townley saw something in the Mumas. And in the fall of 1966, he came to them with a request.

“Phil sought us out one day and said that he wanted someone to represent our church at the civil rights meetings just
starting up in Warren. We said, ‘Sure,” remembers Marion, now 87. “I was — we both were — very liberal-minded people.
And still are.”

How I wrote the story

In 2017, I was looking at old Census records for Macomb County — a place I called home for most of the first 27 years of my life, and
whose prominent role in American politics has become a professional and personal fixation. That’s when I came across a number that
made my eyes pop. In 1970, Warren had about 180,000 residents, but just 132 of them were Black. They were divided into 28
families, 23 of whom lived in military or federal housing; civilian Warren had five Black families. It was such a small number I could
actually find all their names.

Ruby, determined to buy Lot 314 on the corner of Buster Drive and Antonia Lane, had shared her rejection by Mavant
Homes with open-housing advocates in the area and her story landed in the lap of the Warren-Center Line Human
Relations Council. With federal fair housing law unenforced locally, the only option available to the Baileys was a
completely legal ploy. The members of the council, now including the Mumas, were presented with a chance to do
something brave.

2%

“They said, ‘We would like someone to volunteer to be straw buyers for Ruby and Carado,” Marion told me. She and

Carl stepped forward.

Marion and Carl would pretend that Ruby and Carado’s money was their own, purchase the lot and have the house built to
Ruby and Carado’s specifications. And once complete, they’d turn around and immediately sell it to the Baileys without
any financial profit. Neither the developers nor the neighbors would have any idea this nice white couple wasn’t going to
live there and the new house would instead be occupied by a couple whose marriage was still illegal in roughly one-third of
the country.

It wasn’t just raw racism the housing activists were about to confront; there was a powerful financial force, as well. “It was
a huge, huge factor: the fear that white people had about economic loss,” Marion Muma told me. “When somebody with
dark skin moves next door, your house would go down in value.”

In Detroit during the middle of the 20th century, many whites left the city for its suburbs precisely because Black people
had moved into their neighborhoods. To be a middle-class white American — and to have the economic security that
implied — meant that you didn’t live near Black people. And that made those people who supported desegregation a threat
to many white homeowners in the suburbs.

Now, 57 years later, that dynamic is all very clear to Marion. But back then, she says, she and Carl did not understand just
“how things might develop.”

‘SHE WAS NOT TO BE DEFEATED’


https://www.newspapers.com/article/detroit-free-press/126726096/

In November 1966, when Marion volunteered to straw-purchase a home for a couple she hadn’t yet met, she
discovered, to her amazement, that there was no training that covered this. The Mumas consulted with sympathetic
attorneys who walked them through legal particulars and financial arrangements to ensure that neither they nor the
Baileys would get burned by the deal. But there was no guidance for how to act while dealing with the developers or
salespeople — how to avoid seeming shifty; how to keep the ruse a secret, even from friends and family; how to handle the
anger of neighbors and strangers when they found out.

“We couldn’t tell anyone,” Marion recalls. “I was so nervous. But I really believed in what we were doing, and I was just so
determined to do this right.”

First, they needed to meet the Baileys.

Ruby, Marion says, was “really friendly; really loving. You know, you’d get a hug. ... Outgoing. Happy. Supportive. Just
somebody you could immediately be friends with. A good mother. ... She was not to be defeated or discouraged.”

Carado, Marion says, “was a good-looking man,” with short, receding hair and sighing, expressive eyes. “He taught me
how to dance,” she laughs, her face brightening at the memory. “I moved from the neck up. He showed me how you move
from the hip. He’d go, ‘Come on, Marion. This is how you do it.” And I’d go, ‘Oh yeah, that is good. ... He was real friendly.
He had a good — a dry — sense of humor. ... He didn’t talk so much, but when he did, it was decisive, and it was funny.”

On Dec. 14, 1966, the two couples signed an agreement outlining the financial arrangement for the purchase of Lot 314.
The full purchase price was not to exceed $22,390, “plus cost of extras.” (“They had more money than we did,” Marion
laughs. “We couldn’t have afforded to buy that house!”) The Baileys would give the Mumas a down payment of $5,690,
plus fees, insurance and closing costs. The Mumas would place that money in a trust fund “to be applied exclusively
towards” the home, and then apply for a mortgage in their own name not to exceed $17,500. Once the house’s
construction was complete, the Mumas would sell the house to the Baileys, who would assume the mortgage.

When Marion visited the model home, the agent asked for her preferences for appliances, fixtures and paint colors for
each room. She politely requested time to talk it over with Carl, taking color chips with her. Really, though, this was to
consult with Ruby.

“Ruby and I met, and I would bring home the samples of stuff that she could pick out — the tile, the paint, whatever,” says
Marion.

The stress was terrible.

“It wasn’t going to be my house, so I had to try to get Ruby nailed down — and she was willing to pore over pieces of tile
and paint. In fact, she wanted me to be a little pickier than I was. And I'd go ‘OK, Ruby,”” Marion chuckles. “It was awful,
but nobody caught on.”

By Jan. 9, 1967, the lot had an address — 26132 Buster Dr. — and a purchase order in place for a stove (an electric Tappan
model with a built-in timer and glass-door oven drawer: $95), dishwasher (Tappan, as well: $325), a coppertone kitchen
sink ($20), pink fixtures in the main bath ($60) and blue in the half-bath ($30). Ruby chose “beige Venetian” formica for
the kitchen counter and “petal pink goldspun” for the vanity in the main bath; powder blue paint for the half- bath and
smallest of the three bedrooms, “flamingo” for Pam’s, “orchid” for the master suite and off-white for everything else.

On May 29, the house was complete and the Baileys signed a legal agreement to assume the mortgage. The Mumas handed
over the keys. Prior to moving in, Ruby Bailey was seen at the new home, sometimes alone, sometimes with the Mumas,
never arousing any suspicion, according to unpublished contemporaneous notes Marion took and shared with me.

On Monday, June 5, the Baileys moved in. Neighbors were “curious,” Marion wrote, and “watered [their] lawns till very
late” that evening, eager to see what was happening. That week, they got their first glimpse of the Baileys. “And then all the
trouble began,” she says.

‘WE WILL NEVER ACCEPT A MIXED MARRIAGE’

On Tuesday, June 13, one week after the Baileys moved in, the front pages of the morning papers landing on front
lawns in the Wishing Well subdivision carried dramatic news from Washington: “The Supreme Court sounded the death
knell Monday,” read the Associated Press report, “for state laws outlawing racially mixed marriages.”



“Under our Constitution,” Chief Justice Earl Warren wrote in a unanimous decision ruling that anti-miscegenation laws,
still enforceable in 16 states, were unconstitutional, “the freedom to marry, or not marry, a person of another race resides
with the individual, and cannot be infringed by the State.”

Interracial marriage was already legal in Michigan. That didn’t mean it was accepted.

Crowds had gathered every night for a week, but on Monday night, stoked by the news from Washington, the mob around
the Baileys’ home swelled dramatically. They surrounded the home, walked along its side and threw rocks and heavy steel
bolts through at least four windows. They yelled and clapped and howled. A Warren police officer stood in front of the
house, outnumbered. Two other officers watched from their patrol car parked across the street.

The siege of the house had already become local news, though it would be a couple of days before it was picked up
nationally. “We feel we have a right to live in a nice community the same as other people,” Ruby Bailey told the Detroit
Free Press. “I'm firm. I'm going to live here.”

Meanwhile, the news from Washington kept adding fuel to the racist grievances in Warren. On June 13, former president
Lyndon Johnson announced his pick for the seat about to open up on the Supreme Court: Thurgood Marshall, the civil
rights litigator, solicitor general and, now, the first Black man in American history nominated for the high court.

That night, the crowd outside the Baileys’ home doubled in size, numbering around 200 by the count of the Free
Press and Macomb Daily, and 300 by the Royal Oak Daily Tribune.

A pro-segregation rally in Little Rock, Arkansas, in the 1960s.

“It wasn’t just a few people; it was a mob,” remembers Lillian Bauder, a white woman active in the open-housing
movement and who, like the Mumas, had become close with Ruby and Carado. Lillian was in the house with the Baileys
throughout that weekend. “They were intent on driving out the Baileys — and driving all of us out, too.”

There was little doubt what animated the rage of the crowd. They expressed their racism plainly and unabashedly.

“If this was a Negro family, there wouldn’t be this kind of a disturbance. But this is a racially mixed marriage,”
the Macomb Daily quoted one woman in the crowd who refused to give her name. “We want these people to move out
because our children will start believing that marriages of this type are acceptable.”

“We realize it is inevitable that all neighborhoods will become integrated,” another neighbor told the Daily that week. “But
we do object to this mixed marriage. It is pretty hard to explain to our children that this isn’t often done, and particularly
is not done by people whom you want living nearby.”

“We do not believe that this family moved here to live in harmony,” yet another neighbor wrote in a letter to the editor of
the Detroit News. “We feel that they have been put here ... to ‘brain wash’ our children into accepting a mixed marriage as
natural. We will never accept a mixed marriage as being right.”

For a week, the police, all of them white, had done the absolute minimum to protect the Baileys and their property. But
Michigan Gov. George Romney had made it clear already to Warren officials he would mobilize state troopers if the local
police couldn’t do their jobs. Reluctantly, on the ninth night since the Baileys’ arrival, the police placed sawhorses near the
house, attempting to keep the crowd back.

As the masses jeered, Warren’s acting police commissioner, Charles Groesbeck, was apologetic.

“We have to enforce the law whether we like it or not,” Groesbeck told them. “If you think it’s bad now, it could be a lot
worse. ... If we can’t control the situation, we’ll have the aid of the state and federal government.”

“Why can’t you invite the family out?” demanded a voice in the crowd.

“They are determined that this is where they want to live,” Groesbeck answered after some back-and-forth. “We didn’t
want to come in here. But when you started throwing rocks through this man’s window, we had to.”


https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/us/388/1/#tab-opinion-1946731

Groesbeck, using a public address system, threatened to invoke the Riot Act. A chorus of boos rained down. The crowd
would not disperse.

Around 9 p.m., Groesbeck ordered his men to push the mob away from the Baileys’ property. Four officers lifted a
sawhorse and walked it toward the crowd. It was an impotent move; the crowd simply juked around the barrier, and the
officers abandoned the efforts.

Someone in the mob pulled out a guitar, singing a song familiar to anyone who lived through the civil rights era: “We Shall
Overcome.”

We can survive no other way; we must overcome today.

Carado Bailey was at work. Ruby was at home. Pam was “not around” those first few days, at least as Marion Muma
remembers it. “They must’ve had her staying with some people that were going to keep her safe,” she told me.

Mary Killeen was across the street, though, watching through her picture window.

She thought she was hallucinating when, around 10 p.m., she saw a line of heavily armed officers from Warren’s “riot
squad” marching toward the Baileys’ home accompanied by a tank. (While this is not mentioned in any contemporaneous
reporting, it’s plausible that police in Warren, which was home to a massive army-tank factory, would have had one in its
arsenal.)

A man and woman in the mob charged the helmeted officers, who responded by striking them with the butts of their
shotguns. One woman attempted to break through a police line and steal an officer’s weapon, according to the Royal Oak
Daily Tribune. Fifty or so protesters “converged on the scuffle,” the Free Press reported. Two men were arrested for
disorderly conduct, though the charges would be dropped after a night in jail.

For an hour and a half, the helmeted officers attempted to clear the area. Around 11:30, they finally secured a perimeter
about 100 yards from the property. With the neighborhood locked down, Groesbeck escorted Ruby and a friend out of
their house and to an undisclosed location, where she spent the night. Carado reportedly headed there after his night shift
at the GM plant.

To the whites in the mob, the crackdown by law enforcement was an egregious abuse of power. “The police won’t let white
people demonstrate, but Negroes can do as they please,” moaned an anonymous woman in the Macomb Daily.

To the Baileys and their supporters, the show of force on their behalf was encouraging. Yes, the police’s defense was
admittedly half-hearted and, yes, it took the personal intervention of the governor to make sure it happened. But in that
moment, none of it could dampen the Baileys’ sense of relief: The siege was over.

Actually, it was only the beginning.

‘WE WILL CONTINUE TO ENFORCE THE LAWS’

The next night, the crowd shifted from the Baileys’ yard to the sweltering gymnasium of Siersma Elementary School
where they wanted to scream at city officials for taking the family’s side and not theirs.

Residents had been “hoodwinked” by the city, said the head of the area’s homeowners’ association.
“We will never accept her,” said Mary Laudicina, a resident of the subdivision. Heads bobbed with approval.

“The n-----s got CORE and NAACP and SNCC, and it’s OK,” complained an unnamed man. “We try to start something like
the Ku Klux Klan, and it’s all bad, bad, bad.”

The neighbors would not rest until the Bailey family “goes back where they came from,” said another.

The police chief tried to placate the crowd by apologizing for the events of the night before. Deploying the officers with
guns brandished was an “error in judgment,” Groesbeck conceded. “I never was more hesitant, more reluctant to do
anything in my life.”



Groesbeck was pinned between two implacable and bitterly opposed forces.

Earlier in the day, Damon Keith, the young, Black, Detroit-based attorney who chaired the state’s Civil Rights
Commission, had sent a telegram to Gov. Romney asking him to deploy the state police to protect the Baileys. Groesbeck
“has not handled the situation satisfactorily,” Keith wrote, and state troopers were needed to prevent “further harassment,
intimidation and violence against the Bailey family.”

“Until the white man wakes up and gets the right men in Congress, he’s going to have to live with this.”
— Robert Haynes, president of local homeowners’ association in 1967

The Detroit branch of the NAACP was more blunt. “If past history is any example, were these [rioters] Negroes, wholesale
arrests would have occurred,” said Robert Tindal, the chapter’s executive director. “By doing nothing, the Warren police
are encouraging this illegal activity on the part of whites to intimidate Negroes in order to prevent them from exercising
their constitutional rights to free movement in our society.”

Groesbeck bristled at the criticism, which was prominently covered in the local press. He claimed not to have heard any
complaints from the Baileys — which might have been true, but not because they hadn’t complained. In fact, they’d told
local reporters they found the initial police response inadequate. Groesbeck’s threshold for success was low: “Considering
there were no personal injuries ... in the 10 days since the Baileys moved in, I feel this is a very good record,” he told

the Detroit News.

In the cacophonous gym — the school where Pam Bailey was set to enroll in the fall — Groesbeck sensed he wasn’t winning
people over. He opted for clarity. He read Michigan’s riot acts aloud, his voice vaulting over shouts from the crowd. “We
will continue to enforce the laws and protect the property of the Baileys,” he said.

“If keeping order requires calling out the State Police, the sheriff’s officers and the National Guard,” Groesbeck warned, “I
will do it.”

The next day, police moved the barricades farther from the Baileys’ home — “some as far as seven and eight blocks” away,
reported the Macomb Daily. Roughly two dozen policemen kept sentry nearby.

For a second straight night, there were no major disturbances on Buster Drive. But for a second straight night, Siersma
Elementary’s gym was the staging ground for a sticky-hot two-hour meeting between angry residents and government
officials trying to placate them.

The police barricades, the residents complained, were inconvenient. One man said that a carpool to work usually picks
him up in the morning but wasn’t let in because their ID showed the driver didn’t live in the area. Another moaned that
Father’s Day was coming and their guests wouldn’t be allowed entry.

Groesbeck conceded the barricades were inconvenient. But they were necessary. “If that house goes up in flames, or if one
of your houses goes up in flames, there’s going to be a reaction from one side or the other,” Groesbeck said. “We don’t
need that kind of grief.”

The approach seemed to work. Robert Haynes, the president of the homeowners’ association, suggested that the anger the
residents felt would be better used at the ballot box.

“Until the white man wakes up and gets the right men in Congress,” Haynes said, “he’s going to have to live with this.”

‘THIS UNFORTUNATE INCIDENT WILL PASS’

If it wasn’t already clear from the meetings at Siersma Elementary, the white residents of the Wishing Well
subdivision were losing official allies rapidly. Institutions they had once considered allies — the union, the church, the
government — were turning against them and standing behind the Baileys.

The United Auto Workers had long preached the virtues of civil rights, but mostly in the abstract. Walter Reuther, the
ruddy-haired dynamo who led the powerful union, had rallied with the NAACP as early as April 1943, and in June 1963,
marshaled the union’s members to march alongside the Rev. Martin Luther King Jr. for his “Walk to Freedom” in Detroit,
at which the preacher first delivered the speech he would make famous in Washington later that summer. (“I have a dream



this afternoon that one day, right here in Detroit, Negroes will be able to buy a house or rent a house anywhere that
their money will carry them,” King said.)

There was nothing abstract about the Baileys’ ordeal, however, and the UAW acted accordingly. On June 15 — 10 days
after the family had first moved in — William H. Oliver, co-director of the group’s fair practices and anti-discrimination
department, sent a Western Union telegram to Gov. Romney, urging him to send in the state police to prevent “any further
acts of violence and to assure that crowds are dispersed immediately and that no damage comes to the Bailey family.”

The next day, Romney responded via a telegram to Oliver at Solidarity House, the UAW headquarters. “[The] Michigan
State Police and Michigan Civil Rights Commission have been reporting regularly to me on developments in Warren,”
Romney wrote, advising Oliver that preventive action “will continue to be employed as long as necessary to ensure
peaceful occupancy by the Baileys in their home. State Police will provide whatever support to the local police which may
be required.”

Copies of both telegrams were sent to Ruby and Carado Bailey, along with news the UAW had “arranged to have Mr.
Bailey transferred to the day shift effective Monday, June 19, 1967,” so that he could be home with his family should more
nighttime violence transpire.

“The struggle in which you are currently engaged, while difficult and agonizing, will unquestionably pave the way for
people to discover each other’s common humanity,” Oliver wrote to the Baileys. “This unfortunate incident will pass as so
many others have, and people will come to understand and respect the rights of your family [just as] they have come to
understand and respect the rights of other families.”

In Lansing, officials in Romney’s government were outraged by the abuse of the Baileys.

Burton Gordin, the executive director of the Michigan Civil Rights Commission, saw in the Bailey case a clear example of
how an unresponsive local government and law enforcement could worsen the threat of racial violence. As such, it was a
teachable moment, which the CRC used to propose guidelines for how the government should respond if a situation like
the Baileys’ ordeal happened again in the state. Damon Keith, the CRC’s chairman, and its general counsel, a young
Detroit attorney named Carl Levin, met with Groesbeck and Warren Mayor Ted Bates on Friday, July 14, to explain how,
in their eyes, the police and mayor botched the handling of the Baileys’ move-in — and how the “official response to petty
complaints made by people in the neighborhood who were involved in the rioting” made matters worse.

Local churches found their collective voice as well. On the Friday after the riot squad was called in, the Metropolitan
Detroit Council of Churches released a statement commending the “laymen and clergy of Warren churches who are
standing for the principle of open housing,” and calling on “Warren civic and police authorities to give the full protection
of the law to minority residents and to the effort toward restoring peace in the community.”

“The charity of Christ urges us. The love of our neighbor compels us. The pride of our country directs us,” the Warren
Ministers’ Association said in a statement of their own, published on June 19. “We urge all citizens of the neighborhood
and community to extend a welcome to the Baileys, and to forbear using any tactics of harassment against them as they
seek to establish a decent home in a decent community.”

“We can make statements until we are blue in the face, and it won’t matter one whit until we begin to live out their
intention,” said Rev. Wallace Zink of St. Paul’s United Church of Christ in Warren.

St. Cletus Catholic Church, the parish closest to the Baileys’ home, organized a team of 20 congregants to donate their
time on Saturday, June 24, to resod the Baileys’ destroyed lawn. “We decided to do this because we wanted to show the
world that a lot of good people also live in Warren,” said Steve Bussa, the St. Cletus parishioner who led the brigade.

For those white Warrenites who didn’t want the Baileys to live there, the takeaway was hard to miss: The institutions
they’d depended on for so long — the church, the union, the state — could no longer be assumed to be working on their
side.

A seed was planted. It would take years before it would bloom. But when it did, American politics would look different as a
result.

‘WE’'LL GET YOU ONE WAY OR THE OTHER’


https://www.npr.org/2023/06/24/1184152283/60-years-ago-martin-luther-king-jr-gave-an-early-version-of-his-i-have-a-dream-s#:~:text=KING%3A%20I%20have%20a%20dream%20this%20afternoon%20that%20one%20day%20right%20here%20in%20Detroit%2C%20Negroes%20will%20be%20able%20to%20buy%20a%20house%20or%20rent%20a%20house%20anywhere%20that%20their%20money%20will%20carry%20them.
https://www.npr.org/2023/06/24/1184152283/60-years-ago-martin-luther-king-jr-gave-an-early-version-of-his-i-have-a-dream-s#:~:text=KING%3A%20I%20have%20a%20dream%20this%20afternoon%20that%20one%20day%20right%20here%20in%20Detroit%2C%20Negroes%20will%20be%20able%20to%20buy%20a%20house%20or%20rent%20a%20house%20anywhere%20that%20their%20money%20will%20carry%20them.

The police barricades kept out people from other parts of the city who were eager to rubberneck at the Baileys’
misery. But the barriers also penned in the same neighbors who’d rioted only days earlier. The initial violence subsided
into a persistent low-level pressure campaign. One day, a truck cut off the Bailey family’s car in the neighborhood. “What
are you going to do when the police leave?” one of the occupants said, according to a Michigan Civil Rights Commission
memo later that year. “We’ll get you one way or the other.”

While their husbands were at work, “mothers [strolled] past the house in the summer sun yelling ‘N----r’ and cursing,”
the Macomb Daily reported. Their children joined in, reported the Free Press.

“We just want to live here and be good neighbors,” Ruby told the Daily, her eyes misty. “We are determined to stay. This is
our home.”

“I'm sure there are some lovely people in the area. But there are some animals, too,” Ruby said. Still: “We’re willing to
forgive and be friendly.”

Amid it all, observed Daily staff writer Joy Vallier, “Pam sits on the floor and plays with her games and wonders why her
mommy is crying and why she can’t go outside to play and why all the doors and windows are closed when it’s so hot
outside. And her parents wonder what will happen next.”

On June 26, Pam Bailey was confronted by a group of children who hurled insults and rocks at her as the 7-year-old rode
her bike. One neighborhood mother was heard egging them on: “Call her ‘bitch!” Call her ‘bitch!””

In July, a group of children took their bikes to the Baileys’ newly resodded lawn, destroying it again.

On Sept. 7, Pam started school at Siersma Elementary. On the second day, while she walked home from school, a group of
kids accosted her. On the third day, it happened again. A boy hit her with a stick. “I don’t want to see you on this street
again,” an adult in the neighborhood told her. When Pam recounted the abuse to the school principal, he told her, “You
will have to take it.”

On Oct. 9, eggs were thrown against the kitchen window.

On Oct. 12, a flammable liquid was set on fire at the edge of the Baileys’ property. Blue paint was sprayed on the garage
door, and eggs were again smashed against the side of the house.

On the night of Oct. 25, Lillian and Don Bauder babysat Pam while Ruby and Carado attended a banquet. This was not
unusual. The Bauders, who both taught at the local community college, were civil rights activists and had met the Baileys
through the Warren-Center Line Human Relations Council. The couple, both white, frequently visited the Baileys’ house,
and they had paid a price for it. Like the Mumas, they endured constant harassment on the phone and from strangers in
public. Lillian remembers being out shopping when a stranger approached her and recited her address and daily routine
from memory. “We’re going to get you,” she remembers him saying. “We’re going to kill you.” But the couple loved
spending time with Pam. (She “was just a sweetheart,” says Lillian.)

Around 8 p.m., they were sitting in the Baileys’ living room when Don saw something through the window that he knew
his wife and Pam hadn’t glimpsed — something he didn’t want Pam to see.

“He looked really serious,” Lillian remembers.

He gave a firm instruction: Take Pam to a back room.

“I said, ‘Fine.” I didn’t even ask for an explanation.”

Don rushed out the front door. He heard tires squealing and saw a car race off.

A cross was burning on the front lawn. Lillian remembers Don describing it as “about six feet tall.”

Mary Killeen saw it through her picture window. “I always remember it whenever I read about racial problems in the
South. I think: ‘Well, you didn’t have to go down South to see that,” she says. She remembers it as “a good six feet wide,
maybe 10 feet tall.” (The police report described it as 3 to 4 feet tall.)



Don ripped it out of the grass, threw it in the gutter and stomped out the flames.
“We called the police and said that it had occurred,” Lillian told me, “but we also knew the police were not our friends.”

Afterward, the state civil rights commission telegrammed Mayor Bates and suggested the police step up their efforts to
protect the family. Commissioner Groesbeck responded by stationing an unmarked police car near their home. It
remained through Halloween.

A reporter asked Carado Bailey if the cross-burning had extinguished his will to stay in Warren.
His response was clear: “Certainly not going to move now.”

‘THAT’S WHEN WE GOT WEAK’

Pam’s problem at school wasn’'t so much the other kids. Her problem was the other kids’ mothers.

They were the ones at home in the day, the ones who might pull their cars up to the school to pick up the kids when it was
rainy or snowy, the ones who policed the friends their children made, the ones who volunteered for the PTA and the bake
sales and the after-school functions, the ones who modeled ideas and language and behavior for their children.

And inside and outside Siersma Elementary, they were the ones who instigated much of the abuse directed at the 7-year-
old girl.

In early November 1967, Pam was outside the school with a new friend when they were approached by a group of mothers
with their kids in tow. The mothers, according to a CRC report later that month, screamed at the two little girls. “N----r!”
“Spook!” they spat at Pam. At her friend: “White trash!”

The mothers knew the neighborhood, and they were sure which house belonged to Pam’s new friend. That night, a group
of them paid the house a visit, and pressured that girl’s mother into cutting young Pam out of her daughter’s life.

It worked. It always did. “To date, no one in the neighborhood has been strong enough to resist this kind of pressure,”
noted a CRC memo from Nov. 7.

One of the women in that group was, reportedly, Irene Panas, who lived on Joe Drive, a couple blocks away from the
Baileys. The mother of a boy four years Pam’s senior, Panas was repeatedly identified by name in police reports, perhaps
the worst offender in the ongoing racist attacks on the girl.

On Nov. 6, near the principal’s office, Panas’ 11-year-old son allegedly verbally accosted Pam. “You're a n----r,” he said,
according to a CRC memo. “N-----s are dirty; n-----s don’t take baths.”

A day later, Ruby was driving to the school to pick up Pam — her routine since Pam was attacked while walking home on
her second day of school — when she noticed a car trailing her. She could see three white women inside. The car followed
her straight into the school parking lot. Ruby got out and confronted the women: Why are you following me? The women
told her they were simply “protecting their children.”

The abuse continued through the spring. On April 1, around 3 p.m., Ruby was sitting in her car outside Siersma when a
black 1963 Ford pinned her into the parking spot. The driver was Irene Panas. According to a police report, Panas
approached Ruby and theatrically grabbed her nose. “You'’re a n----r lover; smell like shit.” She left, and Pam came out of
the school and got into Ruby’s car. Panas reappeared. “You bitch, why don’t you go home and screw your n----r husband?”

Later that month, the N-word was painted on the Baileys’ garage door.

Two or three times a week, a group of seven white women, including Panas, paced along the sidewalk in front of the
Baileys’ house. They yelled the N-word at Ruby. As Pam played with a friend, they shouted that she “should be playing
with a n----r girl, not a white one.”



This, more than anything else, is what drove the Baileys to their breaking point: It was all too heavy a burden for a child’s
shoulders. Pam’s grades dropped and her mood sank. She was anxious while awake; a doctor prescribed pills. She was
tormented by nightmares while asleep; Carado took to sleeping alongside her.

“That’s when we got weak,” Ruby told JET Magazine in August 1968. “We moved here because we wanted a better school
for Pam...We could stand all this pressure, but we didn’t want our child hurt.”

In the spring of 1968, Carado drove a hand-lettered red, white and blue sign into his front yard: “For sale by owner.
Inquire within.”

There were no takers.

‘WE WANT THEM TO BE OUR NEIGHBORS’

The idea for the petition started with the Christian Family Movement’s group at St. Cletus Catholic Church, the
parish closest to the Wishing Well subdivision. Since its founding two decades earlier, the Christian Family Movement — a
social justice-oriented campaign — directed its members to use what theologians call the “Jocist method of social inquiry.”
There are three steps: observe, judge and act.

Observe: See what’s happening in your community with open eyes.
Judge: Ask yourself whether this situation meets Christianity’s social principles of dignity and justice.
Act: Consider what can be done about it, and do it.

Under the leadership of Father Jerome Fraser, a priest whose commitment to social justice led him to co-found a
nonprofit group called “FOCUS: Hope” that same year, the CFM group at St. Cletus turned to the Baileys.

In local newspapers, they advertised a petition called “A Voice of Support.” It retold the Bailey family’s story, outlining the
harassment and stating plainly that the family had now decided to move — an act which it suggested was evidence of a
moral failing on the part of white Warrenites.

“We, who are citizens of Warren, recognizing that our full support has been lacking, feel that their leaving would be a
tragedy for our community,” the petition read. “Further, we feel that it is never too late to act and would like now to
publicly ask them to reconsider and stay with us. We will try, as Christian people, to overcome the prejudice and bigotry
shown them on so many occasions. We want them to be our neighbors, to be part of the opening up of Warren to all
people, of whatever race, nationality or creed.”

It garnered more than 2,000 signatures across the city. Ruby told JET Magazine that “only a few residents of this
immediate area signed that petition.” But the action had the desired effect: The Baileys decided to stay.

That wasn’t good enough for one man. Michigan Gov. George Romney wasn’t satisfied simply that one family had survived
the abuse on one street in one subdivision in one suburb. He was convinced that America’s suburbs must desegregate, not
just in Warren, but in every single corner of the nation.

And come 1969, he was in a position to do something about it.

— PART Il —
The Ballad of George Romney

In the early 1930s, when George Romney was a young man and the country was in a depression, he couldn’t afford a
decent car. His used Oldsmobile had no first or second gear, and he parked on hills so he could coast downhill and shift
directly into third gear.

Romney was a man who started everything he did in third gear.


https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Young_Christian_Workers

He worked his way up from aluminum paint salesman in Southern California to top Washington lobbyist for aluminum
manufacturer Alcoa in a few years’ time. He left that job for a field in which he had no experience: Detroit’s automotive
industry. He eventually joined Nash-Kalvinator, where the president of the company took him under his wing and gave
him immense authority. He became the anointed successor shortly after Nash-Kalvinator and Hudson Motor were
frankensteined into the American Motors Company. He took that company, drowning in debt, and built it into a success
by doing the opposite of the Big Three automakers: He persuaded Americans to give smaller, fuel-efficient vehicles a

try. He coined the term “compact car” in the process. Most mornings, he played — what else? — “compact golf,” where he
got in a full 18 by playing six holes with three balls at the same time.

In 1962, he ran for governor as a Republican in a state that had elected a Democrat seven consecutive times. His support
came from high margins among white suburbanites while also making inroads among two traditionally Democratic blocs:
union voters (“If I worked in a plant, I would join a union and be active in it,” he said) and Black Detroiters (“the
Republican Party for years has neglected the Negro,” he said, vowing to change that fact). He defeated an incumbent and
won reelection in 1966 with more than 60 percent of the vote, immediately vaulting into frontrunner status for the 1968
Republican presidential nomination.

There was an obvious appeal. Romney’s Michigan seemed like the future of America. Motown dominated the music charts.
Detroit’s auto industry, with its lustrous, envy-inducing cars, was the backbone of a massive and wealthy middle-class. The
Tigers won the 68 World Series and Michigan State won back-to-back national football championships. In 1963, Michigan
was home to the largest civil rights march in the nation’s history. It was easy to get drunk on the champagne.

Romney, as the chief executive of this powerhouse of a state, seemed in many respects like the future of American politics.
He was 60 years old with a stellar private sector resume and a growing reputation as a political moderate. Four years
earlier, in 1964, he had led the campaign against the extreme right’s takeover of the GOP, opposing Barry Goldwater as a
presidential nominee over the Arizonan’s opposition to federal civil rights legislation.

As 1968 approached, Romney was leading former president Lyndon Johnson in polls. His chief competition for the
Republican nomination would be Richard Nixon, who had lost much of his own appeal after consecutive losses to John F.
Kennedy in 1960 and the California governorship to Pat Brown in 1962. Unlike Nixon, Romney had the looks for the job.
He was telegenic, with a brylcreemed, white-to-black gradient of hair and a great shovel of a jaw, like the rock bucket on a
backhoe. He used it to remake every landscape into which he ventured. But there were times when that jaw dug him into a
hole.

Nixon, ever the savvy political strategist, sensed Romney’s weakness. Early in 1967, Nixon held a planning session with his
top advisers at which “it was laid down that he wanted to keep his rival George Romney in the headlines as long as
possible,” Theodore White reported in Breach of Faith: The Fall of Richard Nixon. “Nixon’s personal dictum was ‘Keep
him out on the point.”

It didn’t take long before Romney tripped himself up and delivered the negative headlines Nixon had desired.

On Sept. 4, in a television interview Romney explained his shifting position on the Vietnam War. “When I came back from
Vietnam, I just had the greatest brainwashing that anybody can get,” Romney told host Lou Gordon. “And as a result, I
have changed my mind: I no longer believe that it was necessary for us to get involved in South Vietnam to stop
communist aggression.”

Over time, the effects of that one word — “brainwashing” — snowballed. In a Cold War era with “The Manchurian
Candidate” fresh in voters’ minds, the notion Romney couldn’t think for himself stained his campaign in a way no amount
of scrubbing could undo. His poll numbers sagging, Romney dropped out of the presidential race 12 days before the New
Hampshire primary.

It was disappointing, to be sure, but also liberating: He could focus his energies on the issue he cared most about: civil
rights — and, specifically, open housing.

Romney was not new to the cause. The constitutional convention he’d led in Michigan before running for governor
resulted in America’s first state constitution with civil rights provisions baked in. As governor, in 1963, he marched with
the NAACP on behalf of open housing — and not in a progressive liberal enclave, but in Grosse Pointe, the tweedy, old-
money suburb just east of Detroit on the shores of Lake St. Clair. He comforted the family of a Michigan woman who was
murdered by the Ku Klux Klan while in Alabama for the Selma-to-Montgomery march in 1965. He had personally pitched
Republican Sen. Everett Dirksen on including an open-housing provision in the 1966 federal Civil Rights Act. And, most



https://www.thedrive.com/news/how-mitt-romneys-dad-convinced-america-to-give-compact-cars-a-chance
https://www.newspapers.com/article/lansing-state-journal/136271664/
https://www.newspapers.com/article/detroit-free-press/136270986/
https://michiganadvance.com/blog/on-this-day-in-1967-gov-george-romney-says-he-was-brainwashed-on-vietnam-war/
https://michiganadvance.com/blog/on-this-day-in-1963-gop-michigan-governor-fights-for-fair-housing/

recently, in June 1967, he had pledged to intervene on behalf of Ruby and Carado Bailey when angry white neighbors
attacked their new home in the new suburb of Warren.

Even when Nixon won the presidency in November 1968, he knew Romney still presented a political threat. To neutralize
him, Nixon decided to bring him into his cabinet — so long as it wasn’t one of the big, important jobs like secretary of state
or attorney general. Or, as top Nixon aide John Ehrlichman wrote in his memoirs: “What better revenge than to put
Romney into a meaningless department, never to be heard from again?”

He offered Romney leadership of a department that was only three years old and had a reputation for liberal
policymaking: Housing and Urban Development.

Romney gladly accepted.

The Nixon White House surely couldn’t have imagined this might have been the job Romney wanted most. And Romney
had no intention of telling them why.

‘NIXON WOULD HAVE BEEN OUTRAGED’

Romney was an odd fit for the Cabinet. He wasn’t used to taking orders from anyone or making the type of
compromises to one’s values and priorities that were so important for success in Washington. So he pretended he didn’t
have to.

In May 1969, Romney held a retreat for his top aides at Camp David at which they mapped out a policy for which they had
no buy-in from the White House — and about which the White House had no knowledge. They called it “Open
Communities.”

The vision that came out of that meeting was that every American should live in an “open community” — that is: “one in
which choices are available, doors are unlocked, opportunities exist for those who have felt walled within the ghetto and
left with no option,” in the words of a draft memo written by Romney’s top aides and sent to the secretary that August.

That lofty rhetoric was not uncommon in an American political scene still tipsy with the afterglow of the Kennedy years.
But there was a difference between “open communities” as a talking point and “Open Communities” as a policy. Nixon was
comfortable with the talking point, at least at the outset of his presidency. He supported the notion that a Black person
with the means should be able to purchase whatever home they could afford, but he was unwilling to use federal power to
enforce that civil right, lest it be seen as “forced integration.” Romney, however, had no hesitation about using government
might to achieve his most ambitious policy goal.

In a series of secret meetings, Romney and his top aides hatched a plan to ensure Black Americans could “have the same
variety of [housing] options now open to others. They should be able to select new neighborhoods as well as the old ones,
if that were their choice.” His staff suggested a carrot-and-stick approach to gain local compliance. Carrot: “the use of
incentives to prompt cities to construct and open up housing for diverse types of occupants.” Stick: “the use of pressure by
withholding HUD grants to projects that do not meet these goals.”

“Nixon would have been outraged by HUD’s covert planning,” political scientist Charles M. Lamb wrote in his 2005
book, Housing Segregation in Suburban America since 1960. “This was precisely the kind of liberal social engineering
that would alienate his suburban constituency for the 1972 election and beyond.”

Which is perhaps why Romney and his team didn’t tell him or the White House about their plans. They couldn’t keep the
plan secret forever — they had to implement it. But they knew that risked political fallout. A “frontal attack ... would
arouse major political opposition,” an Aug. 15, 1969 memo to Romney read. But they had to start somewhere.

Romney knew just the place.

‘THE WHITE SUBURBAN NOOSE’

Warren was the third largest municipality in Michigan, with just under 180,000 people, and growing fast.
Black residents made up less than one-tenth of one percent of that population. But Black workers comprised roughly 30
percent of the city’s industrial labor force. They were simply unable to live in the same community where they made a
living.



For every family like the Baileys who were willing to endure the violence and constant harassment of their White
neighbors, there were untold numbers of aspiring middle-class Black families who never even tried to buy a home like the
one in the Wishing Well subdivision. It wasn’t because they couldn’t afford it. Black workers in unionized auto factories
were making the same wages as their white coworkers — with health insurance, pension benefits and wage increases tied
to the cost of living. But few government officials were willing to take the proactive or meaningful steps that would’ve
allowed voluntary integration to take place. One Romney aide, John Chapin, described it this way in a policy paper: “[TThe
white suburban noose around the black in the city core is morally wrong, economically inefficient, socially destructive, and
politically explosive.”

Warren, which had been on the radar of HUD officials for its refusal to enforce open housing laws even before Romney
was named secretary, was part of the noose.

On Feb. 12, 1969, a delegation from HUD’s Chicago office visited Warren, where they met with Mayor Ted Bates to explain
the department’s obligations under the fair housing components of the 1968 Civil Rights Act, which had passed Congress
with overwhelming bipartisan majorities and was signed into law after the assassination of Martin Luther King Jr. It
prohibited discrimination in housing and broadly empowered HUD to “administer all programs in a manner affirmatively
to further fair housing,” leaving the scope of that undertaking largely undefined. The meeting was, by all accounts,
collegial, and Bates assured the Chicago team that the city would adapt in whatever way was necessary.

In truth, Bates, a Democrat in a nominally nonpartisan office, had little interest in making it easier for Black people to
move into his city. But he knew he had to keep HUD happy because he was depending on federal money to accomplish his
biggest priority: Warren’s Neighborhood Development Plan, centered in the city’s rundown South End. Broadly, he
wanted to rehabilitate or raze some of the city’s decaying and undesirable older houses, and replace them with parks,
businesses or new homes. Unstated but very clear was that he wanted to do this for the benefit of white residents. He
needed millions of HUD dollars to do it. To get the money, all Warren had to do was pass an open housing ordinance of its
own. Warren officials made clear by their inaction they had no intention doing any such thing.

Warren’s intransigence, not to mention the undeniable disparity between the racial makeup of the city’s workforce and the
racial makeup of its population, made it an excellent candidate for Romney’s new program. Besides, as historian Dean
Kotlowski wrote in Nixon’s Civil Rights, “The HUD secretary clearly wanted to test open communities in an area with
which he was familiar.”

Romney, who lived in a wealthy suburb of Detroit, knew Warren well enough to understand the city needed serious
intervention on matters of race, but he either ignored or drastically underestimated something that his experience with the
Baileys should have made abundantly clear: The white residents of Warren would do anything to stop desegregation.

‘MR. MAYOR, YOU DO HAVE A PROBLEM’

HUD showed Warren the stick built into Romney’s plan in early 1970.

Francis Fisher, HUD’s regional administrator in Chicago, wrote to Bates on March 9, lamenting that “no significant steps
have been taken” toward desegregation or the steps HUD had asked of the city. Now, HUD was threatening to withhold
millions in federal funding — $3 million for 1970, $14 million for the years immediately following.

Bates attempted to persuade.

“I would challenge your statement that no significant steps have been taken,” Bates responded by letter dated March 18.
“There were 19 Black children in Warren Consolidated School District in 1968 and 37 in 1969.” (One of those children was
Pam Bailey, Ruby and Carado’s daughter, who endured routine racist insults from students and their mothers.) It was
proof of progress, he argued. Yes, it was slow, and true, it was happening without any encouragement from the city, but
that, Bates suggested, was the way things should be: “We are certain that you can agree with us that integration ideally
should be accomplished as a ‘natural happening’ — and without incident.”

Of course, the Baileys’ ordeal showed that in Warren, even when integration was a “natural happening,” it was met with
incident. That was HUD’s whole point: In order for integration to happen naturally, Americans of color must have the free
choice and free ability to live where they chose, just as white Americans did. And local governments needed to enforce that
right.



Warren’s city council members were tired of the pressure from HUD’s mid-level bureaucrats. In a closed-door meeting on
April 14, they decided they’d be better off talking directly to Secretary Romney himself. They telegrammed him the next
day.

Three weeks later, on May 77, Warren city officials gathered around a table in Romney’s large, wood-paneled conference
room in Washington. Romney was late and the group’s conversation with his undersecretary, Richard Van Dusen, was
careening downhill. After listening to the city’s sales pitch on its redevelopment plan, Van Dusen reminded the officials
“we have certain things that we're looking for.”

The doors opened. Romney walked in, apologetic for his late arrival, and sat across the table from Bates. Van Dusen
summarized the city’s presentation, inviting the mayor to add any comments. Bates, knowing he couldn’t avoid the topic
of race much longer, attempted to persuade Romney that Warren had changed since he was governor.

“Warren is now an open city,” Bates said. “We have our colored in Warren. We have no problems there.”
Romney leaned forward and pounded his hand on the table.

“Mr. Mayor, you do have a problem, or you wouldn’t be here,” he said, cutting Bates off, as quoted in the Detroit News. “1
was governor of Michigan when the Bailey family moved in, and I had to send the state police in there to protect them
because the local officials would not fulfill their responsibilities.”

He had just arrived and was already in third gear.

Bates was startled by Romney’s anger and initiated a new, even more preposterous line of argument: The Baileys proved
Warren did not have a problem with racism. The city, he said, had spent $75,000 and devoted 1,600 man-hours to
guarantee the Baileys’ safety, as if this fact didn’t immediately undercut his point.

Romney had heard enough.

“You can try to hermetically seal Warren off from the surrounding areas if you want. But you won’t do it with federal
money,” he told the stunned delegation. “You will find that it will be impossible to do. We are living in a nation now where
everybody is interdependent. Black people [have] as much right to equal opportunities as we do. God knows they have
suffered so much they may have more right. Inexorably, there is going to be change, so you might as well face up to it now
and agree to these requirements.”

Slowly, a few of the councilmembers spoke up.

“What you are talking about is integration, isn’t it?” asked Councilmember Lillian Klimecki Dannis.
“Yes, it is,” Romney replied.

“What you're asking us to do is give up our jobs,” she said.

HUD wasn’t asking for anything unreasonable, Romney reiterated. The department simply wanted Warren to show
progress on race.

There was progress, Bates protested: While there were only 28 Black families in the entire city in that year’s census; four
years earlier, there had been only three. The best course of action was for “nature to take its course,” said Bates.

Romney spoke quietly, forcing everyone in the room to pay attention to every syllable.

“The youth of this nation, the minorities of this nation, the discriminated against of this nation are not going to wait for
‘nature to take its course,” he said. “What is really at issue here is responsibility — moral responsibility. This problem is
the most important one that America has ever faced, is now facing and will ever face — bar none. It must be solved, and
we, the citizens, must solve it.”

The meeting was over. The fight had just begun.



‘WE’RE PLANNING A COUNTER ATTACK’

HUD imposed a deadline for the end of May: Enact an open-housing ordinance and establish a human rights
commission, or lose out on federal funds.

The department’s demands of Warren were “nothing more than forced integration,” Councilmember Floyd Underwood
fumed at a council meeting that spring.

“I don’t consider myself a racist,” said Councilmember Ron Bonkowski. “I'm a Catholic, and try to live by the Christian
code. But Mr. Romney insinuates that unless we bow to his mandates, we'’re racists — and I strongly resent such
implications.”

At an emergency meeting on May 28, the council passed a housing ordinance, and in a separate vote, allowed for the
creation of a human relations commission. One councilmember, Richard Sabaugh, who voted “no” on both measures
called them “a surrender to George Romney.” But, in actuality, there was no surrender, because Bates never intended to
make good on either proposal. The open-housing ordinance? As drafted, it lacked any enforcement mechanism so it fell
short of what HUD demanded. The human relations commission? Bates vowed not to appoint any members.

Romney’s stick hadn’t persuaded Warren to capitulate quietly. Indeed, the fight was about to explode into the open in a
way that would make Romney’s ambitious plan even more politically toxic.

On July 21, Washington-based reporter Hugh McDonald of the Detroit News peeled back the cover on what Romney and
associates had been planning in Warren. The News’ front-page banner headline that day: “U.S. picks Warren as prime
target in move to integrate all suburbs.” “The federal government intends to use its vast power to force integration of
America’s white suburbs — and it is using the Detroit suburbs as a key starting point,” McDonald wrote. He outlined in
plain detail what HUD envisioned, and quoted extensively from a memo the Chicago HUD office wrote about the situation
in Warren.

This alone was damaging for Romney. But one line in the article would cause significant pain: “President Nixon, according
to some sources, has specifically encouraged and supported Romney on this.”

This was not true. Nixon not only did not encourage and support Romney’s designs on the suburbs, he wasn’t

even aware of them. And if he had been, he likely would’ve opposed them. Romney couldn’t address this point without
badly injuring his standing. If Romney denied that this was the case, it was a tell he didn’t have Nixon’s support, which
would only prompt more pointed questions. If the president didn’t support it, why was Romney pursuing it? If the
president didn’t know about it, why hadn’t Romney told him?

Romney and his aides, surely realizing that these reports would imperil not only HUD’s relationship with Warren, but
Romney’s relationship with Nixon as well as the long-term viability of the entire Open Communities effort, went into
damage-control mode.

“Neither the Detroit suburbs not any other suburbs have been singled out for any kind of enforcement or program
specifically aimed at integration,” a HUD spokesperson told the Detroit Free Press. “The memorandum [from HUD’s

Chicago office] is not HUD policy. It is not a statement of position, nor is it a report adopted by HUD.”

This was obfuscation. The program was not “aimed at integration,” true. But it was aimed at desegregation. This is a
subtle distinction, but one that runs through HUD’s documents on the policy.

Bates was apoplectic over the News reports. The use of Warren as a test case for suburban integration “is radically
different from what HUD has been discussing with us the last few months,” he told the Free Press. “We’re planning a
counter attack.”

Warren would gladly go without the urban redevelopment money, “if it is HUD’s policy to use urban renewal grants as a
hammer to force integration,” Bates told the Detroit News in July. He would even “go to President Nixon if necessary.”

Romney needed to contain this fire. He decided to go straight to the source.

‘WE’'LL GET YOU AT THE POLLS’



The protesters massed outside Warren’s Fitzgerald High School braved the heat because they wanted to make
George Romney feel it.

Romney had insisted that this meeting, at which he’d be addressing 200 or so concerned local officials from the Detroit
suburbs, be closed to the inevitable catcalls of a tightly wound public. This, of course, only angered the protesters more
— here he was, forcing them to integrate, and wouldn’t even let them in the room.

Their handmade signs were not creative — “HUD is forced integration” and “HUD: Get out of Warren” — but got their
point across clearly in the morning papers.

Romney, too, played to the press — local media, and also the national reporters present. “Greeted by a storm of boos, he
grinned and shook some hands before entering the school,” reported the Macomb Daily.

Once in the school, Romney launched into a carefully planned defense of HUD’s plans that was aimed at extinguishing the
political fire while leaving the underlying policy intact.

The speech began with words chosen as if aimed at an audience that was not in the room: the president himself. Quoting
extensively from Nixon’s March 1970 statement on school desegregation, Romney depicted “Open Communities” as the
natural outgrowth of the president’s formulation that “In speaking of ‘desegregation’ or ‘integration,” we often lose sight of
what these mean within the context of a free, open, pluralistic society. ... [W]hat matters is mobility; the right and the
ability of each person to decide for himself where and how he wants to live.”

“There has been a lot of loose talk about a HUD policy of ‘forced integration’ of the suburbs,” Romney said. “There is no
such policy. The Department does encourage integration through voluntary action, and we have a statutory mandate
to enforce a national policy of fair housing.”

He was now shifting into third gear.

“Nobody should be pressured to go anywhere, but it is the essence of a free society that every family should have a choice.
This means that for any community to receive our HUD grants, they must take affirmative action to prevent
discrimination in the choice of a house or the community in which to live.”

The Detroit News stories over the past week, Romney said,” were “misleading” and “erroneous.”

If this memo labeling the city a “prime target” for HUD’s designs was inaccurate, Warren’s councilmembers responded,
how did it come into existence? Romney gave the audience a sacrificial offering: The memo originated from HUD’s
Chicago office, specifically Francis Fisher and Edward Levin, and was not codified national policy. That prompted several
councilmembers to call for Romney to fire Levin. He refused.

Back and forth it went for hours, Romney giving no ground but not gaining any either. When he emerged from the school
and the crowd descended on him, Warren’s police on Romney’s security detail forced the protesters to clear a pathway to
the car. The crowd surrounded the automobile, thumping on it, rocking it lightly. Eventually, the driver found a path
forward and Romney’s taillights faded. The community he left behind was, if anything, more opposed to his plan than
before.

But if Romney was in a bind, so too was Bates. The mayor desperately needed the HUD money for the South End
development plan and to get it he knew he would have to push through the two civil rights policies. Even though the
measures as passed were almost meaningless, they had acquired a taint for many residents of Warren that made them
impossible to accept even if it meant improving their city’s housing and schools.

Still, Bates chose the money. Nothing less than “the survival of the city’s decaying South End” hung in the balance, he said.
At a council meeting the night after Romney’s speech, the audience let him know he had chosen the wrong side.

“We’ll get you at the polls,” they shouted at council members who’d backed the open housing and human relations
commission.

‘OUR COUNTRY’S TORMENTED HISTORY OF RACE RELATIONS’



Less than two weeks after Romney visited the city, organizers of a petition drive submitted 14,800 signatures —
one in every five voters registered in the city — demanding the urban renewal project appear on the November ballot. “The
implications are enormous,” the Free Press reported on Aug. 16. “HUD has not yet been forcibly ejected from any
American city.”

“[T]o people in Warren, urban renewal means Negroes,” reported the New York Times. “I was the last one to move out [of
my neighborhood in Detroit], fought ’em as long as I could,” said Jack Gardner, the Warren resident who took out the
petitions.

The signatures forced the city council’s hand. On Aug. 25, it unanimously voted to put a measure before Warren voters
that would allow them to repeal the ordinance creating a human relations commission and reject the urban renewal plan
altogether.

But as resistance to his plan consolidated in his home state, Romney continued to make his case in Washington. One day
after the Warren vote, he testified before the Senate’s Select Committee on Equal Educational Opportunity, delivering
remarks that sounded at times to the left of Great Society liberalism. Chair Walter Mondale, the Democrat from
Minnesota, asked the panel whether the “federal government — throughout past or present policies — has contributed to
the creation of segregated housing patterns.”

“The answer, of course, is ‘yes,” Romney said.

He went on to deliver a history of the “indefensible” roles the FHA and VA played in creating segregated suburbs in the
1940s and 1950s, of redlining, of the “institutional pattern” of discrimination, of restrictive covenants, of the contribution
of the interstate highway system to “the segregation and isolation of the poor and minority groups.”

“The reasons that racial reconciliation continues to elude us are deeply embedded in our country’s tormented history of
race relations,” Romney said. “Throughout most of that history, the dominant majority supported or condoned social and
institutional separation of the races. This attitude became fixed in public law and public policy at every level of
government.”

Romney closed with a brief summation of the very thinking that made Open Communities, in his mind, an essential
undertaking. “The federal government must assume the indispensable role of leadership, both in shaping its own policies
and in stimulating state and local governments to take the actions necessary for a truly open society for all Americans.”

“Take Warren,” Romney told the committee, explaining HUD’s carrot-and-stick approach with local governments. “It had
an obvious policy of discrimination. So the department took action. They’re not going to get any money unless they comply
with requirements to at least create a human relations council.”

Once again, Romney’s public statements created fresh outrage in Warren, driving a wedge ever deeper between HUD and
the city Romney had hoped would be a national example for his new policy.

“I want a public apology,” Mayor Bates told the Free Press. “[W]e are not discriminatory.”

Romney’s entire goal at HUD was to stimulate local action on civil rights. The great irony is that he did stimulate local
action, but it was on the opposite side. He had created a coherent political force that opposed open housing and urban
renewal. It was a force so determined that it was willing to sacrifice a city’s economic wellbeing if it meant maintaining
segregation.

“People have pride; they don’t want to be thought of as racist. George Romney found out in Warren that
there’s as much racism in the North as in the South...”
— Richard Nixon, in an Oval Office strategy session

By the end of the summer, two things were clear to Richard Nixon: George Romney needed to go, and Warren was the
reason why.

The Warren “incident,” as it came to be known in Nixon’s inner circle, was impossible to ignore. It was written about in
the New York Times, Washington Post, U.S. News and World Report and National Journal, among other national
outlets. Nixon and his top aides concluded that Romney had badly mishandled the situation — and said as much in an


https://timesmachine.nytimes.com/timesmachine/1970/08/17/78802058.pdf?pdf_redirect=true&ip=0
https://timesmachine.nytimes.com/timesmachine/1970/07/29/76778571.html?zoom=14.94&pageNumber=27
https://timesmachine.nytimes.com/timesmachine/1970/07/29/76778571.html?zoom=14.94&pageNumber=27

end-of-summer Oval Office strategy session with a clutch of top aides and Cabinet officials, as quoted in John
Ehrlichman’s memoir, Witness to Power.

“People have pride; they don’t want to be thought of as racist,” Nixon said in that meeting. “George Romney found out in
Warren that there’s as much racism in the North as in the South — they’re as tough on Blacks as they are in Jackson,
Mississippi, or more so.”

This wasn’t just a matter of policy disagreement. It was central to Nixon’s reelection strategy. The uprising in Warren
spoke to a split inside Nixon’s campaign about what the Republican Party should look like, or at least how to make a
winning majority of voters.

On one side was Romney and a number of Ehrlichman’s subordinates, who imagined a Republican Party that added Black,
Jewish and Hispanic voters to the GOP coalition — embracing civil rights and assembling a diverse coalition of middle-
class Americans and those struggling to work their way into the middle class.

The other side, favored by most Nixon aides — and ultimately by the president himself — embraced the so-called
“Southern strategy,” capitalizing on racial and cultural concerns among white voters who’d long voted for Democrats,
cleaving apart the party’s longstanding governing majority.

But the term “Southern strategy” has always been something of a misnomer, as it leaves out what really made the
approach such a success: Its appeal among Northern white suburbanites — many of them Catholics of Polish, Italian and
Irish heritage.

“Politically, I felt that addressing the concerns of Southern Protestants and Northern Catholics, as in Macomb County,
would yield us more than the liberal Republicans whose support we would risk losing,” Pat Buchanan, Nixon’s aide, told
me in an email. “[I believed that] in the new division of the nation, created by social and economic conservative and
populist policy, we would ‘end up with the larger half.” And we did.”

Keeping Romney in the cabinet made it much harder to appeal to the voters Buchanan identified as a winning coalition.
Suburban integration, Ehrlichman wrote in an October 1970 memo to Nixon, “is a serious Romney problem which we will
probably have as long as he is there ... [H]e keeps loudly talking about it in spite of our efforts to shut him up.”

Nixon scrawled an order in the margins of the memo: “Stop this one.”

‘WE NEED SOME CHANGES IN THE CABINET’

On Election Day in 1970, 57 percent of Warren voters opted to end urban renewal in the city. Work on the South
End would cease immediately. Warren was now the first city in the nation to reject HUD’s Neighborhood Development
Program.

This was an unmitigated disaster for Romney. Open Communities was effectively dead.

“We need some changes in the Cabinet,” Tom Charles Huston, a top White House aide, wrote in a confidential Nov. 13
memo to the president. “If Secretary Romney persists in his plan to launch a massive federal integration drive in northern
suburban housing developments, he should be sent back to Michigan to discuss the political wisdom of his plan with the
voters of Warren, Michigan.”

They thought about a soft landing — perhaps they could convince him to lead a new national effort promoting
volunteerism or some such uncontroversial do-gooder program without electoral implications. Another option: appoint
Romney ambassador to Mexico, where he grew up in a Mormon colony.

But Romney couldn’t — or wouldn’t — take the hint.

In a Nov. 16 letter to Nixon that was ultimately not sent but remains among Romney’s papers at the University of
Michigan Bentley Historical Library, Romney politely but firmly turns down the Mexico offer.

“Attorney General Mitchell on Friday conveyed your concern about our being on a collision course because of a difference
in ideology with respect to the racial aspects of HUD’s programs,” Romney began. “To avoid this, he said you thought I
might be interested in appointment as Ambassador to Mexico. ... I am not interested.”


https://www.newspapers.com/article/detroit-free-press/129225263/
https://www.nixonlibrary.gov/sites/default/files/virtuallibrary/documents/contested/contested_box_49/Contested-49-41.pdf
https://www.nixonlibrary.gov/sites/default/files/virtuallibrary/documents/contested/contested_box_49/Contested-49-41.pdf

“George won't leave quickly, will have to be fired,” Chief of Staff H.R. Haldeman wrote in his diary that November. “So we
have to set him up on the integrated housing issue and fire him on that basis to be sure we get the credit.”

Yet for all the private Machiavellian posturing, Nixon was either unable or unwilling to fire Romney. Instead, he kept him
at HUD, but took his power away. Policy decisions would now come directly from the White House.

“These staff skirmishes in the Nixon White House were significant not only for how they affected policy and the
approaching election of 1972,” Buchanan later wrote in Nixon’s White House Wars. “Like John Brown’s raid on Harpers
Ferry, they foretold a greater struggle that would redefine the Republican Party and affect national politics into the
twenty-first century.”

‘1 AM SPEAKING FOR YOU’

On Saturday, May 13, 1972, the most racist governor in America came to Warren.

George Wallace, the staunchly pro-segregation Alabama governor — just nine years removed from his “segregation
forever” speech and his stand in the Alabama schoolhouse door in an attempt to block Black students from enrolling —
was running for president on the Democratic ticket. He was met by more than 3,000 supporters who braved a light rain at
an outdoor park just three days before the presidential primary. Mayor Bates, Councilmembers Floyd Underwood and Art
Miller and former Councilmember Richard Sabaugh gave the governor’s unlikely appearance an official imprimatur.

To the adoring horde of voters, Wallace didn’t sound like the politicians who they felt had turned their backs on them
during the HUD controversy. School busing had erupted as an issue across metro Detroit in the preceding months, adding
to a sense among white voters that even if they got out of the city, unelected judges could force their kids to go to schools
in the places they’d deliberately left. Their signs spoke to their shifting allegiance and the reason why: “This Is Wallace
Country” and “Happiness Is Walking to a Neighborhood School.”

The candidate raged against crime, the challenges of working men, the evils of busing and integration, against welfare
cheats, against high taxes, against the war in Vietnam. “I am speaking for you,” he said. “A vote for George Wallace is a
message on ... [the] remoteness of government from the average citizen.”

Want to read more stories like this? POLITICO Weekend delivers gripping reads, smart analysis and a bit of high-
minded fun every Friday. Sign up for the newsletter.

Two days later, Wallace was shot and paralyzed in Maryland. One day after that, he won the 1972 Michigan Democratic
presidential primary — the only primary he won that year north of the Mason-Dixon Line, and one where his total
exceeded all of the other candidates combined. His Michigan win came largely on the back of an overwhelming swarm of
votes in Macomb County, where he carried 66 percent.

Macomb, which had turned out heavily for JFK in 1960 and LBJ in 1964 — and had even voted for Humphrey over Nixon
in ’68 — awarded Wallace more votes in the primary than it would give to Democrat George McGovern in the general
election that November.

As 1972 drew to a close, Richard Nixon won a 49-state landslide, proof of the success of the suburban strategy.
Republicans made major gains across Macomb, which Nixon carried with nearly 63 percent of the vote — a margin of
victory of just under 29 points.

George Romney resigned from the Cabinet. He never ran for public office again.

‘1 BECAME SEMI-MILITANT’

In the meantime, aless dramatic but no less consequential shakeup was occurring in the Wishing Well
neighborhood. And it had everything to do with the Baileys.

Everything began to change for Mary Killeen after witnessing how the Bailey family was treated. “I became semi-militant,”
Mary told me. “I was plotting from that point on — I think, now that I look back — that this is not going to work, as far as a
marriage.”


https://www.newspapers.com/article/detroit-free-press/10315444/
https://www.politico.com/newsletters/politico-weekend
https://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/documents/letter-accepting-the-resignation-george-w-romney-secretary-housing-and-urban-development

Her husband, often neglectful and drunk, had taken to threatening violence. “He threatened to hit me by punching holes
in the wall to show how angry he was,” Mary wrote in an unpublished memoir that she shared with me. “Every door in our
house was cracked and the wood frames around the doors smashed. George punched me in the stomach once and hit me
in the face another time but mostly, he stayed away from doing visible damage.”

Mary confided to me something about her ex-husband that she’s never discussed before. “My husband worked for the
telephone company, and I always suspected that he was the one that cut the wires at night,” she says, referring to the
Baileys’ phone line. “But I never asked him. I don’t know why — maybe I didn’t want to know.”

In the early 1970s, she got out with the kids, and in April 1975, divorced her husband. She sold the house that August and
left Warren behind.

By that time, a new family had moved into the Wishing Well subdivision.

For years, Ralph Lilly had commuted each day from Detroit to his job at Warren’s Army Tank Command; he and his wife,
Irene, had been looking for a home in Warren since at least 1962. “Builders always had the excuse that if they sold these
houses to us, they wouldn’t be able to sell any of the others,” Irene later told the Associated Press. She and her husband
were Black.

In May 1971, the opportunity to buy a home opened up. They took it.
Now, there would be a Black family living four doors down from the Baileys on Antonia Lane.

Integration was underway in Warren, and nothing — not the lack of HUD money, not the voters, not the neglect of the
South End — would be able to stop it.

— PART Il —
Birth of a New American Suburb

Ruby Bailey still lives in the same home on Buster Drive.

She is 95 now, a widow and a grandmother. She is the only homeowner from 1967 still living on the block, having
outlasted all her neighbors.

From the outside, the house seems almost unchanged since that early summer day she and Carado, who died in 2008,
moved into the brand-new Wishing Well subdivision. There’s the same large picture window through which a burning
cross could once be seen. There’s the attached two-car garage where someone had painted “n----r” on the door. The lawn is
as neatly mowed as the day it was trampled by a mob of chanting white neighbors who couldn’t tolerate that a Black man
and a white woman intended to raise their young daughter there.

But if Ruby’s house hasn’t changed, her city and its surrounding county have. A lot.

More than a half-century has passed since Warren city officials — all of them white — refused to enact the open housing
laws required by George Romney’s housing department in Washington, thereby forfeiting millions of dollars in
redevelopment money that would have transformed the city’s already decrepit South End.

In that time, the decline was as steady as it was predictable.

Today, the South End is a compact grid of cramped houses with aluminum siding, concrete front steps, window air
conditioning units and DIRECTYV dishes. They’re packed in along cracked and weedy residential streets named after long-
shuttered car companies like Packard, Studebaker and Hudson. Chain-link fences hem in backyards where laundry dries
on clotheslines. The main thoroughfares, where HUD’s money would have been spent in the "70s, are lined with empty
storefronts. The businesses that are open — collision shops, a Cash 4 Gold depot, old dive bars and pizza joints that have
been there long enough the awnings give the phone number without an area code — have a just-hanging-on feel.

But the biggest change is the diversity of Warren’s residents.


https://www.newspapers.com/article/lansing-state-journal/27060152/

In the 1970 Census, Warren had 179,260 residents, 132 of whom were Black. It had just five Black civilian households (the
rest were military or federal); one of those five was the Bailey family. Now, a half-century later, Warren has about 40,000
fewer people, but a much more diverse population: 20 percent Black, 11 percent Asian American and 5 percent mixed-
race. In Ruby Bailey’s census tract, the change is even more pronounced: Black and Asian American residents constitute
nearly 40 percent of its population.

This is the product of the “natural” evolution that former Mayor Ted Bates once said was the way his white constituents
preferred the city to integrate. Without any incentives or federal pressure, integration happened within Ruby Bailey’s
lifespan. But in some important ways, that laissez-faire approach has also allowed Warren’s deep racial divisions to
persist.

For generations, the physical symbol of those racial divisions was 8 Mile Road, the thoroughfare on Warren’s southern
border that separated the Black city of Detroit from its closest white suburb. The arrival of tens of thousands of new
residents of color didn’t obliterate that infamous dividing line. As whites fled the southside of Warren, moving farther
away from the city’s edge, the invisible racial line simply moved a few miles north. The result is a bisected Warren with
mostly white people in the north and people of color clustered in the south.

“I think that Eight Mile Road is now I-696,” says Michael Howard II, a Black resident of the South End and organizer of
the city’s first official Juneteenth celebration, referring to the massive highway that cuts horizontally across the middle of
the city. “Think of it like a castle: The outer wall is broken, but it’s still ‘Fortress Warren.”

‘EVERYTHING THAT HAD GONE WRONG IN THEIR LIVES’

There is no way to know how Warren, Macomb County and metro Detroit might look today if Richard Nixon
hadn’t killed his housing’s secretary’s bold plan for suburban integration. Would the city be more racially integrated
throughout its 36 square miles? Less economically blighted? All we know is what happened after Warren refused the
federal money and Nixon built his reelection strategy around appealing to fears of racial integration: Socially conservative,
middle-class white Democrats started voting for Republicans — not only in the South, but in suburbs throughout the
nation. The GOP from then on was geared toward keeping them happy; the Democrats focused on enticing them back.

Nationally, our collective understanding of that fact is rooted in this corner of Macomb County.

In 1960, it was the most heavily Democratic suburban county in the United States; by 1984, Ronald Reagan won two of
every three votes cast. In the mid-1980s, Stan Greenberg, the Yale pollster commissioned to explain why Democratic
support had cratered, organized a series of focus groups in local bars and restaurants, union halls and hotel rooms. What
he heard from those voters made clear the scars of the Baileys’ ordeal and ensuing fight with Romney were still fresh more
than a decade later.

“How can we be in the third-largest city in the state and just have no people of color in local elected
positions?”
— Joel Rutherford, former chair of Macomb County Democratic Party’s Black Caucus

He found that white middle-class voters here felt betrayed — and that at the heart of that betrayal was a sense that the
country’s big institutions that had been so instrumental in the building of the white middle class (i.e. the federal
government, organized labor, business interests, the Democratic Party, and even the church) had given up on people like
“us” (white, suburban, hard-working, blue-collar) in favor of caring more about people like “them” (Black, urban, the poor,
the cultural elite).

“These white defectors from the Democratic party expressed a profound distaste for black Americans, a sentiment that
pervaded almost everything they thought about government and politics,” Greenberg wrote in the 1990s of these focus
groups. “Blacks constitute the explanation for their vulnerability and for almost everything that had gone wrong in their
lives; not being Black was what constituted being middle class; not living with Blacks was what made a neighborhood a
decent place to live.”

Greenberg dubbed these socially conservative, economically populist, race-fixated voters the “Reagan Democrats.” His
findings reoriented national politics around Warren, and Macomb County became the closest thing white middle America
had to a de facto national capital.

Every presidential campaign for the last 40 years has been in large part a battle to appeal to these voters. Ahead of the
1992 election, Greenberg became Bill Clinton’s pollster. Clinton visited Macomb so frequently that he asked aides —



jokingly, but with an edge of annoyance — if the county had its own votes in the Electoral College. There’s a straight line
from Macomb’s Reagan Democrats to Clinton’s “New Democrats” and “third way” centrism. In 2000 and 2004, George W.
Bush’s “compassionate conservatism” sought to win back the swinging suburbanites. In 2008 and 2012, Barack Obama
forged them into a formidable and diverse coalition with a “rising American electorate” of millennials, people of color, the
highly educated and the urbane. In 2016, Donald Trump cleaved them off and punctured Democrats’ industrial
Midwestern “blue wall.” And in 2020, Joe Biden’s triumph came from doing well enough with them to rebuild it.

But the fixation on Macomb’s disaffected white voters has concealed a separate but equally important story. It’s a story
that Ruby Bailey started but that is still being written. Warren and Macomb do not look like they did when Greenberg
conducted his first focus groups when Warren was still roughly 98 percent white. And that demographic change has had
its own impact on politics at every level.

“I think because of that ‘Reagan Democrat’ narrative, it took us a while to catch up to the reality of what was happening in
Macomb County,” says Patrick Schuch, former Michigan director for America Votes, the Democratic-aligned data and
voter-mobilization nonprofit.

Macomb today is a microcosm of two dynamics reshaping national politics. After four decades of swinging back and forth
between the two major parties, white working- and middle-class Americans are increasingly voting Republican.
Meanwhile, suburbs across the nation are becoming increasingly diverse — and where that happens, they're also becoming
more Democratic. The two dynamics are not unrelated: Thanks to unresolved issues from the ’60s and ’70s, race is still a
useful tool for populist conservatives who want to appeal to the descendants of the white suburban voters. But it can have
the effect of turning off voters of color and highly educated white voters, pushing them into the Democratic column.

Ruby Bailey’s neighborhood is a case in point. It is represented by a Black county commissioner, a Black state
representative, an Asian American state senator — all Democrats — and a Black Republican congressmember in a majority
white suburban district. That change has not come easily or quickly. Warren didn’t have a Black police officer until 2006.
It wasn’t until July of this year that the city council enacted its first non-discrimination ordinance — and even then, it did
not pass unanimously. At the beginning of 2023, the city had yet to elect a person of color to city office.

Today’s Republican Party is figuratively led by Trump and literally led by Ronna Romney McDaniel — the granddaughter
of George Romney. It is at once more diverse than ever in the candidates it elects to Congress — a spokesperson for the
Republican National Committee tells me that so far for 2024, 105 people of color have filed to run for Congress as
Republicans, a “historic number” — and more reliant than ever on Macomb-style grievance politics to animate its base
voters.

When Trump suggested in 2020 that Biden wants to “abolish suburbs” — its racial implications clear to anyone paying
attention — it was hard not to hear the echoes of the very people George Romney denounced in the 1960s and 70s. “The
Suburban Housewives of America must read this article,” Trump tweeted in July 2020, linking to a New York Post op-ed.
“Biden will destroy your neighborhood and your American Dream.” The polemic he linked to was an evisceration of HUD’s
policy called Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing, a holdover from the Obama administration that required suburbs to
“do more than simply not discriminate,” and expand the amount of affordable housing in those communities. (It is
literally a policy that George Romney advocated when he led HUD.)

In other words: The same fight George Romney had with Warren goes on today, in national politics, with Romney’s
granddaughter leading a party whose standard-bearer in 2016, 2020 and, in all likelihood, 2024, has made opposition to
Romney-style suburban desegregation central to his campaign’s appeal.

“I HAVE TO DEFUSE ALL YOUR PREJUDICES’

Few people embody Warren’s racial progress and its persistent racial divides as clearly as Jocelyn Howard.

Howard, 58, moved to Warren in the early 2000s. Warren’s reputation as hostile territory was well known to Black people
who had grown up in and around metropolitan Detroit. But as economic problems from deindustrialization and trade
policy rippled into the inner ring of suburban cities, white residents moved further out. That, in turn, “allowed a lot of
[Black] Detroiters who were ... sending their kids to Warren schools and other schools across the border ... to start moving
into southern Macomb,” says demographer Kurt Metzger, who has studied the region for almost a half-century.

“It wasn’t my first choice,” Howard told me. But she saw the practical allure: “You could get more house for your buck.”

Howard’s path into politics, like her move to Warren, came as a surprise to her.


https://casetext.com/case/howlett-v-city-of-warren-1#:~:text=On%20August%2010%2C%202006%2C%20fifteen,first%20African%20American%20police%20officer.
https://www.clickondetroit.com/news/local/2023/07/18/warren-passes-1st-anti-discrimination-ordinance-that-excludes-religious-orgs/
https://twitter.com/realdonaldtrump/status/1283429106768662528
https://twitter.com/realDonaldTrump/status/1286372175117791236

In 2010, Warren Mayor Jim Fouts was looking to fill a vacancy on the city’s planning commission. Fouts, whose politics
have defied traditional party labels and who has supported both Democratic and Republican candidates, had
demonstrated over the course of his decades-long career at the center of Warren politics a preternatural ability to sniff out
populist issues, sometimes racially tinged. In 1978, before he had even won his first election, Fouts inserted himself into
the city’s battle to refuse federal rent subsidies — a municipal policy ostensibly rooted in a fear that accepting money from
HUD would require the city to open its arms to Black people. Fouts cast his opposition to the city’s approach as a defense
of Warren’s older residents, arguing the policy put the city’s seniors at a disadvantage because they couldn’t get HUD
subsidies of their own. Decades later, he would be accused of racism: In a leaked audio recording, a voice purported to be
his is heard likening Black people to chimps, though Fouts has consistently denied it’s him on the tape. But Fouts also
adapted to the changing demographics of his city, drastically improving the diversity of city government. Which is how, in
2010, he appointed Howard to the planning commission, making her the first Black woman to serve on that board.

Quite by chance, she had landed on the commission that was actively searching for remedies to problems decades in the
making.

“I was on the city’s master plan committee. For the first time we had one developed. Part of the master plan is developing
the South End,” she told me. “And for the love of God, no one can figure out [why it is the way it is].”

When I explained it to her — tracing the Baileys’ ordeal, Romney’s grand plan, how white officials panicked about
integration had rejected federal development money, causing a self-inflicted wound to the city’s infrastructure — it was as
if a fog had lifted.

“You have just actually laced up an entire narrative as to why the South End is the way it is without us knowing why,” she
told me in June.

The South End has been scarred by neglect for so long that it feels “intentional,” said Joel Rutherford, the former chair of
the Macomb County Democratic Party’s Black Caucus. “People will say, ‘Those people don’t vote.” Well, why should they?
What reason have you given them? Because they’ve seen — whether it be a Democrat, Republican or independent in office
— what did they get other than ‘Well, we’re working on it’?”

“How can we be in the third-largest city in the state and just have no people of color in local elected positions?” Rutherford
asked me in June.

“It’s an embarrassment,” Howard told me. This year, she ran for an at-large seat on Warren’s city council — a bid that, she
says, was partly about giving Warren “the ability to turn the page.”

But Fouts, who had brought Howard into politics, was also a potential barrier to her reaching higher office.

The operative word, Howard told me, is “appointed.” Over his decades in public life, Fouts appointed Warren’s first Black
city attorneys, its first Black fire commissioner, its first Black members to the city’s planning and housing commissions and
its first diversity coordinator. But he has never put his considerable political muscle behind electing a Black candidate for
any city office (he gave an “honorable mention” to one Black council candidate in 2023, but stopped short of an
endorsement). Howard says that when she ran for council in 2019, Fouts was surprised when she announced her
candidacy. “The mayor even said to me, ‘T thought that’s all you wanted,” she remembers him saying, referring to her
planning commission position. “Who told you that? Who gets to make that decision?” Fouts declined to back her. She lost
in that race. (“I have no recollection of saying that,” Fouts told me. “I was happy to appoint her to the [planning
commission] several times. I can’t imagine why I would [say that], and I think her memory is not quite right.”)

In 2023, with a record number of candidates of color on the ballot in Warren — the 36 people who filed to run for city
council included at least six Black candidates and a handful of South Asians and Bangladeshi Americans — Fouts still
didn’t endorse any candidates of color. “I never thought I was going to be judged on who I got elected or anything like
that,” Fouts, who was term-limited this year, told me. “My job was to do a good job of appointing quality people — that
meant African Americans, but the onus [for the election of Black candidates] should not be on me.”

Howard knows that being a Black elected official in Warren would be different. “To certain races of people — and even
certain businesses — they’ll say it could be safe to take a look at Warren again,” Howard said. “When you change the spirit
of the city, people can feel it.”

To make it on the November ballot, Howard needed to place in the top four in an 11-person primary field. It would be a
difficult path even without trying to break the color barrier at the same time.


https://www.freep.com/story/news/local/2017/01/16/former-adviser-heard-fouts-use-n-word-saw-him-dance-like-monkey/96644814/
https://www.candgnews.com/news/mayor-fouts-delivers-fiery-final-state-of-the-city-speech-2775
https://wdet.org/2023/08/07/warrens-bangladeshi-community-seeks-representation-on-city-council/

“I have to defuse all your prejudices before I open my mouth,” Howard said of campaigning in the predominantly white
neighborhoods in the north part of the city. She told me she makes sure to stand well back from a front door so she doesn’t
appear threatening. “I have to go above and beyond everyone else to qualify for a second glance. ... It’s difficult. If I had the
choice, I would choose a different color.”

Howard was optimistic going into the primary on Aug. 8. But she narrowly missed out on the top-four cutoff in the at-
large council race.

Still, Warren would soon have a Black elected official. In District One, the only council matchup where Fouts made no
endorsement, two candidates advanced, both Black. In November, District One’s residents — which include Ruby Bailey
and the neighborhood that so resisted her family’s ability to live there — elected Melody Magee as the first Black city
official in Warren’s history.

“It definitely has thrown a pebble in the water,” Howard told me in December. Now it’s up to Warren to decide how far the
ripples go. “We can be a pebble, or we can be a real brick.”

‘I'M SO SORRY THAT HAPPENED TO THEM’

In August, I knocked on the door of 26132 Buster Drive. There was no answer.

I expected this. Repeatedly, over the last year, I've tried to make contact with Ruby Bailey — voicemails at Christmastime,
knocks at the door in February, in May and in June. Marion Muma called on my behalf and left a voicemail. I've emailed,
texted and called Ruby’s daughter, Pam, who is now in her 60s and still lives in Macomb County. There has been no
response of any kind.

There are so many things I want to learn from her. What she thinks about her experience as a civil rights groundbreaker.
How her family survived. What she makes of the changes in the world around her.

And there are things I want to tell her — the things I've learned that I want Ruby Bailey to know.

Jocelyn Howard admires your principle in the face of imminent danger. “Whenever you have someone saying that there’s
nothing you can do to me at this point that’s going to sway me from my position ... that I have a right to be here, that I
have a right to love my husband, that I have a right to have my child be raised in a community that won’t hurt her — and
no one has a way to extract that from her,” she says. “Without her principledness, I can clearly say that I probably wouldn’t
be in Warren.”

Michael Howard II (no relation to Jocelyn) lives in the South End with his wife, who is white, and their three young
children. He’s thankful for your courage and perseverance. “If they had packed up and moved, would I be in Warren
today?” he said. “Probably not.”

Marion Muma, the straw-buyer, wants you to get the credit you are owed. “I mean, we were just there,” she says of herself
and her husband, Carl. “The fact that they don’t want to talk about it now is in some ways so tragic, because

everybody now just wants to praise them.” Why don’t people in Macomb know this story, I ask. “I suspect it’s the same
reason that people don’t want their kids to be taught about Jim Crow,” she says. “We’re ashamed of it. We don’t want our
mistakes made public.”

Lillian Bauder, who sat with you as your new home was attacked, now lives in a retirement community in Maryland.
There, she met a German couple who told her about the country’s requirement that all students must learn about the
Holocaust and Nazism, and that many take educational trips to concentration camps. “It’s not to blame them; it’s so they
understand their history and can move on better,” she says. “That also explains why people don’t really know about the
Baileys’ move-in: The culture hasn’t really entirely changed.”

She wants people to understand that America isn’t simply a story of bad things that have happened; it’s the story of people
trying to make things better.

“The attitude that we had then, which doesn’t exist now, was that we were making America true to herself and her values,”
she says. “And there’s a strength that comes from that that really informed us. ... We believed in America, and we believed
in making America just, and we were going to help make that happen.”



Mary Killeen, who lived across the street but never said a word to you, told me of her profound regret about that fact.
When I asked what she would say to you if given the chance, she broke down in sobs, a half-century’s worth of pain
tumbling out.

“I would be very sorry that it happened and for any part I played in it by not doing something that maybe I could have
done. ... I'm so sorry that happened to them because, I mean, it made some difference in my life, but their life? It was so
harsh,” she says, her voice thick with emotion. “So I don’t know exactly what I'd say, but I would definitely try to make
amends.”

I knock on the door a final time and step out into the sunlight. A rotor sprinkler sits in the front yard at the end of a garden
hose; the Baileys’ sod is green and dense.

Nearby, an elderly Bengali man goes out for a walk, wearing a kurta. In a driveway a few houses away, a white man clanks
around under the hood of his truck. In front of Mary Killeen’s old house, a young Black girl plays with her bike in the
driveway.

It seems like a nice neighborhood.

Credits

Reporting: Zack Stanton

Editing: Bill Duryea

Illustrations: Mark Harris for POLITICO

Photos: Brittany Greeson for POLITICO

Photo Editing: Katie Ellsworth

Art Direction and Design: Jade Cuevas

Additonal Photos: Walter P. Reuther Library, Archives of Labor and Urban Affairs, Wayne State University; Johnson
Publishing Company Archive.; Courtesy J. Paul Getty Trust and Smithsonian National Museum of African American
History and Culture; Bettmann/Getty Images; Alamy; Wikimedia Commons; Historic Photo.com; Courtesy Mary
Killeen; Courtesy Lillian Bauder; Courtesy of Marion and Carl Muma



